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" Strategic Report

The directors present their Strategic Report together with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31
. December 2018.

This report has been prepared by the directors in accordance with the requirements of Section 414 of the Companies
Act 2006. The company’s independent auditor is required by law to report on whether the information given in the
Strategic Report is consistent with the financial statements. The auditor’s report is set out on page 11.

Principal activities and review of the business
Group overview of activities

API Group plc (‘API' or ‘group’) is a leading manufacturer and distributor of foils, films and laminates for use primarily

" in packaging for fast moving consumer goods and printed media. API's metallic, holographic and pigmented solutions
provide added value options for specifiers and brand owners, visually enhancing and authenticating brands.and
packaging. API's products can be found across a wide variety of applications and sectors including wines, beers and
spirits, tobacco, personal care, food, greeting cards, vehicle licensing and number plates.

With production operations in the UK, US and, since the end of 2016, mainland Europe (with the acquisition of a
facility in Amsterdam), and a strong (owned) distribution network, API has become a trusted partner in the supply
chain for many of the world’s leading brands by providing creative solutions, outstanding technical support and a
strong customer service ethos.

API is focussed on delivering a ‘One API’ brand enhancement étrategy. The purpose of this strategy is to leverage
the market reach of the individual business units to offer our customers a broader and more attractive package of
brand enhancement solutions through one commercial interface.

The business objective is to deliver high single digit or low double digit operating margin, with a resilient financial
performance founded on a competent, well trained workforce, outstanding products, strong customer service and a -
sustainable market position. Intergroup trade provides a further opportunity to maximise added value for the group.

Delivery of our objectives is dependent upon:
. delivery of brand enhancement solutions to our customer base;
’ optimising our cost base and operational efficiency;
. growing volume through product development and innovation;
e superior service delivery; and
« value adding investment in additional capabilities and capacity.

Group.financial review

2018 was a year of significant restructuring for the group. The restructuring included the closure of manufacturing
operations in Rahway, New Jersey with those manufacturing operations being transferred to Lawrence, Kansas. In
addition, part of the Laminates business of AP| Netherlands B.V. was sold in part to Dunmore Europe GmbH (a
fellow group undertaklng) B

Revenues during the year were £124.6m (2017: £147.1m), 15% below prior year. Key factors for the decreased
revenue were the transfer of business from API Netherlands B.V. to Dunmore Europe GmbH, the reduction in activity
with a major tobacco customer for Laminates Europe and lower levels of activity in both Foils Americas and
Laminates Americas. .

Gross profit margin in 2018 was 14.1% (2017: 20.3%). Margin performance was impacted by increasing raw material
costs together with the impact of lower sales on manufacturing costs which are relatively fixed in the short term.

Operating loss before exceptional items was £6.7m ‘(2017: operating profit before exceptional items £3.7m), a
disappointing performance which reflected the significant challenges of consolidating foils manufacturing in the US
and the transfer of part of the laminates busmess of API Netherlands BV to Dunmore Europe GmbH.

Loss before tax was £22.1m (2017: £1.2m) which reflected the exceptional costs of £13.8m (2017: £3. 4m) incurred
during the year, see further details below.

The tax charge for the year was £0.2m (2017: £0.7m).
Cash absorbed By operations was £7.1m (2017: cash generated from 6perations £7.6m) which included a reduction

in working capital of £1.4m. Cash outflows resulting from capital expenditure amounted to £6.2m with the majority of
expenditure relating to the reconfiguration of the North American foils manufacturing base.
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.Exceptionals ’

Total exceptlonal costs in the 2018 financial statements were £13.8m. The significant items comprising the balance
are detailed below. . .

A High Court ruling in October 2018 held that UK pension funds with Guaranteed Minimum Pensions (“GMPs") built
up from 17 May 1990 to 5 April 1997 must equalise benefits for the different effects of these GMPs between men and
women. The cost for the equallsatlon of these benefits has been estimated at £2.0m. -

Reflecting the financial performance of certain parts of the business, impairment provisions were made in the year
ended 31 December 2018 against several intangible fixed assets; £4.6m for the intangibles fixed assets of Laminates
" Americas (a division of APl Americas Inc.) and £1.3m for the intangible fixed assets of API Netherlands BV.

In the year ended 31 December 2018, costs of £2.9m were incurred on the completion of the reorganisation of API
Netherlands BV. This involved several aspects including (i) the transfer of the Laminates business to other group
undertakings and the associated closure of Laminates manufacturing operations in the Netherlands (ii) the
establishment of a foils sales operation and (jii) the relocation of the remaining activities to another facility close to
Amsterdam. .

" The consolidation of US foils manufacturing operations was completed in the year ended 31 December 2018 with the
closure of the manufacturing facility in Rahway, New Jersey and the transfer of that manufacturing to Lawrence
Kansas. This gave rise to exceptional costs of £2.6m.

N

Financing and Net Debt

On 14 November 2017, the ultimate parent undertaking of APl Group plc, Steel Partners Holdings L.P., through
certain consolidated subsidiaries (collectively, ‘Borrowers’) entered into a new five-year $600 million revolving credit
facility (‘Credit Agreement’) with PNC Bank NA (‘PNC’). Cedar 2015 Limited, the parent undertaking of APl Group plc
and APl Americas Inc. are both Borrowers under that finance facility and the UK facilities are now provided through
Cedar 2015 Limited. . )

Net debt (other financial liabilities excluding forward foreign exchange contracts less cash at bank and in hand plus
amount owed to parent undertaking) was £38.7m at December 2018 (December 2017 £23.3m). This increase in net
debt reflected investment activity to support the reconfiguration activity across the business and the poor tradlng :
performance .



Strategic Report (continued) ‘ »

Principal risks and uncertainties

" An aﬁalysis of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the group is set out below:

Financial risks

Area of risk

Description

Potential impact

Mitigation

Foreign currency

With operations in numerous
countries, the group is exposed
to foreign exchange translation
risk when the net assets and
income statements of overseas
subsidiaries are consolidated
into the group financial
statements. Transactional
foreign exchange exposures
arise when an entity within the
group enters into a transaction to

‘pay or receive funds in a

currency other than its functional
currency.

Movements in exchange rates
could have substantial :
favourable or adverse impacts
on both the consolidated
financial statements and those
of individual entities.
Sensitivity to movements in
exchange rates is explained in
note 21 to the :
financial statements.

The group’s debt is structured to
ensure that, where possible, it is
held in the same territory where
the operations being financed
are situated. For substantial.
transactional exposures, it is
group policy to hedge through
the use of foreign exchange
forward contracts. The group
does not undertake any trading
activity in financial instruments.

Interest rates

Interest rate risk arises from
cash and borrowings which are
subject to floating interest rates.

Changes to interest rates
could impact net results and
cash flow. Sensitivity to
movements in interest rates is
explained in note 21 to the
financial statements.

2017 refinancing secured
economic rates, taking
advantage of leverage and rates
from ultimate parent company

‘Steel Partners.

Credit

Credit risk arises from the
possibility that customers may
not be able to settle their -
obligations as agreed.

Non-payment by customers
resulting in bad debts could
have an adverse impact on
the group’s profitability.

Customers are assessed for
financial reliability using external
rating agencies. Secure payment
terms are frequently used in
riskier geographies or for riskier
customers. In 2017 the group
implemented a group wide credit
insurance policy and a
consistent insurer across the
business. Further details are set
out.in note 13 for credit risk
management:

Liquidity

Liquidity risk refers to the risk .
that the group may not be able -
to settle or meet its financial
obligations on time or at a

reasonable price. This will arise ~

from mismatches between cash
inflows and outflows from the
business.

Failure to meet covenant and
other conditions could result in
the group being forced to
accept materially less

- attractive lending terms or-to

implement measures designed
to accelerate the repayment of
debt to the possible detriment
of shareholder value.

This risk is monitored through
regular short-term cash flow
forecasting, trading forecasts
from the businesses and annual
budgets agreed by the ultimate
parent company, Steel Partners,
before the start of each financial
year. Regular updates on debt
are provided to the ultimate
parent company and
drawdowns/ repayment of
funding are made as required to
ensure all daily transactional
requirements are met.

Defined benefit
pension schemes

The group provides final salary
retirement benefits for a number
of its former and current
employees through pension

» schemes in the UK and US. -

Contribution requirements may
vary depending on investment
performance, mortality rates,
inflation levels and changes in
other actuarial assumptions.

While these schemes are
closed to future service

.accrual, actuarial valuations

and funding assessments may
lead to demands for higher
top-up contributions from the
group.

The group, in conjunction with

the trustees of the pension
schemes, actively monitors the -
performance of the schemes’
assets and takes appropriate
actions to ensure these are
maximised (within an agreed risk
profile) and also that the
obligations under the schemes
are mitigated where possible.
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Operational risks

Potential impact

relationships -

number of key customers and
supply contracts for a significant
proportion of its turnover.

major customers or lack of
success in maintaining or
replacing existing major supply
positions could have a materially
adverse impact on the group's
operating results.

Area of risk Description Mitigation
Markets A key risk faced by the business | The group's cost base is The group constantly strives
"is a reduction in levels of inevitably somewhat inelastic and | to adapt its operations to

demand by customers. In financial results are therefore prevailing demand.
general, customers are difficult to insulate from any Management prepares
unencumbered by formal - sharp or prolonged downturn monthly forecasts and carries
contractual commitments and in market activity. out regular business reviews
provide limited visibility of future to enable it to react to
volume requirements. Ultimately, movements in demand and
order levels depend on rates of take remedial action as
consumption several stages quickly as possible.
removed from the group’s point
of sale which, when combined
with the effects of confidence
and decision making by multiple
parties within the supply chain,
are difficult to predict. 4

Commercial The business relies on a small Any slump in the fortunes of The group aims to build long-

term relationships with major
end-users of its products, as
well as continuing to provide a
high value of quality and

' service to its direct customers.

There is continuing focus on
diversifying the customer
base to reduce reliance on a
few major customers,
evidence of this resulting from
the recent acquisitions.

operations, the group is exposed
to a wide range of health and
safety risks, including the
potential for serious fires and
explosions.

loss of life, failure to properly
manage and control these risks
could lead to the suspension or
withdrawal of operating consents,
by enforcement authorities,
corporate prosecution or the loss
of productive capacity through
damage to equipment or
facilities. There is the potential .
for significant adverse disruption
to the group’s activities and
financial consequences which
may not be wholly covered by
insurance.

Geographic A significant proportion of the Any accelerated reduction in the The group has strategies in

group’s sales are in developed accessible customer base could place to expand its operations
Western economies, including impact the group’s into other regions both
“the UK. In line with the general sales opportunities. through the creation of

move of manufacturing to fower - directly owned distribution
cost countries, certain of the hubs or developing

group’s immediate and end-use relationships with third-party
customers routinely consider distributors. Through its
relocating facilities to regions relationships with Global
where the group’s infrastructure .brands the supply routes

is less well developed such as increasingly extend beyond
Eastem Europe and Asia. Westem economies.

Input costs A significant proportion of the A significant increase in raw The group monitors the prices

group’s raw material and material input costs could reduce of raw materials and utilities .
‘conversion costs are affected by margins as the group could also and seeks to recover impacts
the price of oil and gas and the face challenges in passing higher | of raw material where
dynamics of particular costs through to customers due possible.

commodity supply sectors. It is to competitive pressures in

difficult to insulate input costs most markets.

from volatility in the price of

these commodities.

. Health and safety Due to the nature of its As well as the risk of injury or Health and safety is given

high priority by the group’s
management and is
monitored closely by the
board. An active programme
is in place to control exposure
and minimise the fire and
explosion risk. [n addition,
management works closely
with insurers on the
prevention of property loss
and business interruption:

Environment

APl is aware of the impact the
group’s operations can have on
the environment. Some of the
group’s manufacturing
processes involve solvents and
other hazardous chemicals.
Where these substances are
used there is the potential for air
and ground contamination.

Failure to meet required
standards could lead to the
suspension or withdrawal of
operating consents by
enforcement authorities or
financial and reputational loss -
arising from corporate
prosecution.

APl is aware of the impact the
group’s operations can have
on the environment. The risk
of new incidents is contained
by means of strict operating
procedures. Past exposures
are remedied when required.

Brexit

There are various risks as a
result of the 2016 referendum on
the future of the UK’s
membership in the EU.

There might be several
implications including delays on
the import & export of goods,
duty payable & giobal mobility.

We regularly monitor ,
developments and use our
overseas structure to mitigate
risks where possibie.
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Future developments

The restructuring and reconfiguration activity prevalent in 2017 and 2018 is now mainly complete. 2019 will be a
difficult year for the group and will refiect the full year impact of the reduction in activity with a major tobacco
customer which resulted in a reduction in the Laminates Europe workforce in the first hatf of 2019, Undedying trading -
conditions remain challenging as businesses along the case manufacturing, ereclion and packing supply chain seek’
to internalise product wherever possible to both protect and enhance margins. In contrast, the size of the packaging
market available to ourselves with the product portfolio enhanced by the recent acquisitions provides access to a
number of opportunities for the API business to deliver strong organic growth after 2019.

As a net exporter to the European Union, Brexit announcements continued to be monnorecl closely for any potential
impact upon the business.

Key financial measures

Year ended Year ended

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

£m £m

Total revenue - ’ ’ ) ’ 124.6 147.1
Operating (loss) / profit before exceptional items - - {6.7) 37
EBITDA before exceptional items (2.2) . 6.7
Working capital tumover . . . 6.3 ' 8.4

Cash (absorbed by) / generated from operations (A ) T . 7.6
Total revenue of £124.6m reflects a decrease in revenues in each of the 5 business units (seé note 2). Operating
profit and EBITDA have decreased due to the disruption caused by the consolidation of manufacturing in the US for
Foils Americas and the transfer of the Laminates business of API Netherlands B.V. to other group companies. The
.cash absorbed by operations was £7.1m compared with cash generated by operations of £7.6m in 2017; this reflects
the operating loss before exceptnonal items coupled with the cash cost of certain excephonal items.

The Strategic Report has been appmved by the board of directors.
By order of 1he board

3 #2019



Directors’ Report

The directors present their report and the audited ﬁnancial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Result and dw:dends
The group (APl Group plc and its subsidiary undertaklngs) loss for the year ended 31 December 2018 amounted to
£22,267,000 (2017 loss of £1,930,000). The directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend (2017: £nil).

Events since the date of the statement of financial position
On 10 July 2019, a further 1,200,000,000 ordinary shares of 1p each were issued and allotted to the |mmed|ate
parent undertaking, Cedar 2015 Limited, and paid-up by Cedar 2015 Limited for an amount of £12, 000 000.

In July 2019, API Group plc subscribed for 14,000,000 ordinary shares of £1.00 each in its subsnduary undertakmg,
API Foils Holdings Limited, for a consnderahon of £14,000,000.

An indication of future developments is given in the Strategic Report.

Directors

The directors who served on the board of the company during the year to 31 December 2018 and to the date of this
report were:

Jack Lawrence Howard (resigned 26 April 2019)

.COSN | LLC (resigned 26 April 2019)

Douglas Woodworth (appointed 26 April 2019)

William Fejes (appointed 26 April 2019)

Kostantinos Kiriakopoulos (appointed 26 April 2019)

"Share capital

As at 31 December 2018, the company’s issued. share capltal comprised 76,748,730 ordlnary shares of 1p each.
Details of the company’s share capital can be found in note 19 to the fi nanc1al statements. R
. Directors’ shareholdlngs

No directors who held office at the end of the fi nancnal period reported having any mterests in the ordlnary shares of
the company as at 31 December 2018.

Safety, health and the environment (‘SHE’)

The group’s first priority in the workplace is the health, safety and welfare of its employees and those affected by its
-operations. API has a good health and safety record and a culture of safety, whlch aims for continuous improvement,
is deeply embedded within the group. .

The group’s SHE policy has been desugned to provide a framework and guidelines for sites to ensure that they meet
or exceed all-applicable legal and regulatory requirements, to share best practice-and to maintain suitably active and
directed management programmes at site level. There is a clear emphasis on the responsibilities of local
management teams, with oversight through line management and support from group resources.

Employees

The board and senior management promote good relationships and communication with employees. Steps are taken
to inform employees of the circumstances facing the business and its progress and plans, with the aim of promoting a
sense of common endeavour towards the group’s business objectives as a whole.

The group encourages consultation and communication at site level and employees have access to senior’
management so that their views can be taken into account when making decisions which are likely to affect their
interests. Communication with employees includes updates on staff notice boards, communications by email and
instant messenger and team meetmgs Information, including the latest news relatlng to the group’s business, is also
made available on the company's intranet, and website and Mlcrosoﬂ Teams.

Each site and the group’s central services team has access to an HR advisor who is available to address any
concerns or questions an employee may have on a strictly confidential basis. Each HR advisor reports to the VP of
Legal & HR of the group.

The group has a whistleblowing policy in place to enabie and encourage employees, regardless of seniority, to bring
matters relating to suspected wrongdoing or dangers at work to the board’s attention. The whistleblowing policy
forms part of the employee handbook and is also available for employees to access on the company's intranet.
Arrangements are in place for proportionate and mdependent mvestlgatlon of any concerns or allegatlons and for
appropriate follow-up action, when required.

Equal opportunities

APl is an equal opportunities employer. Both employment (including recruitment) policy and practice in the group are
based on non-discrimination and equal opportunity irrespective of age, disability, race, religion or belief, gender,
sexual orientation, .gender re-assignment, colour, nationality, ethnic or national origin and marital or civil partner
status. The group’s equal opportunmes policy forms part of the group’s employee handbook and is also available for
employees to access on the group’s intranet.

The group endeavours to give full and fair consideration to the possibility of employing disabled people wherever a
vacancy arises and is committed to making reasonable adjustments whenever required. If an employee were to
become disabled whilst in the groups’ employment, the group would endeavour to support and retain the disabled
employee in the business through making reasonable adjustments to their role. Disabled employees have the same
opportunities as other employees in relation to training, career development and promotlon
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Training and development ‘

Training and development of all employees is glven due priority. The assessment of training and development needs.
is led by the relevant HR advisor and programmes are coordinated primarily at a business unit level. Senior
-management and staff participate in a performance management programme |nvo|vmg annual objecnve-semng and
appraisal including at the mid-year stage for non-| productlon employees.

Research and development

_Each business unit has a technology and product development team which focuses on mnovatmg, customising and
developing existing and new product lines and manufacturing processes to address customer and market
requirements. Details of the group’s expenditure on research and development are disclosed in note 3 to the financial
statements. .

Charitable and political donations
Charitable donations made by the group during the year amounted to £nil (2017 £301). No political donations
were made (2017: £nil).

Going concern

The principal risks and uncertainties that could impact on the future development of the group’s operating and
- financial performance are outlined in the Strategic Report. The group’s main borrowing facilities in the UK and the US
are committed untii November 2022 through a $600 million revolving credit facility with ‘certain consolidated
subsidiaries of Steel Partners Holdings L.P.. Further details are given in note 16 and 17.

The directors are satisfied, on the basis of the group's latest financial projections, which include the impact of the
reduction in activity with a major tobacco customer and the resulting reduction in the Laminates Europe workforce,
and facilities available, that the group has adequate financial resources to continue to operate for the foreseeable
future. The directors therefore continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing these financial statements.

Use of financial instruments
Disclosures in relation t6 the use of financial instruments are given in the Strategic Report,.

Directors’ responsif)ilities statement
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the
directors have elected to prepare the group financial statements in accordance with Intemnational Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and the parent company financial statements in accordance
with United Kingdom Generally Accepted-Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable
law), including FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework. Under company law the directors must not approve the
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company
and of the profit or loss of the company for that period.

In preparing the Parent Company financial statements, the directors are required to:
. select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
. make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and
e  prepare.the financial statements on the going concemn basis unless it is.inappropriate to presume that the
company will continue in business.

In preparing the Group financial statements, International Accounting Standard 1 requires that directors:

e properly select and apply accounting policies;

«  presentinformation, including accounting policies, in a manrier that provides relevant, rellable comparable
and understandable information;

*  provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are insufficient to
enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the
entity’s financial position and financial performance; and

« make an assessment of the company's ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
company'’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible
for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence.for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregularities. .

Articles of Association .
The company’s Articles of Association'may only be amended by special resolution approved at a general meeting of
the shareholders. A copy of the Articles of Association is available for inspection at the company’s registered office.
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Modern Slavery Act 2015 (the ‘MSA’)

The company has a zero-tolerance approach to modem slavery. The company is committed to acting ethically and
with integrity in all its business dealings and relationships; developing, tmplementmg and enforcing efféctive systems
and controls to ensure modem slavery is not taking place anywhere in its own business worldwide or in any of its
supply chains; and ensuring there is transparency in its own business and in its approach to tackling modem slavery
throughout its supply chains, consistent with its disclosure obligations under the MSA. .

The company is continuing to develop its suppller audit process and thereby improve its practices to combat slavery
. and human trafficking. A copy of the company’s Anti-Slavery and Anti-Human Trafficking Policy is issued to all new
workers on joining the business and is available on the company's website at the link ‘Modern Slavery Act Policy and
Statements’. To ensure a high level of understanding of the risks of modem slavery and human trafficking in our
supply chains and our business, the company's human resource managers and procurement managers provide
training to its employees on the subject. The company expects the same high standards from ali of its contractors,
suppliers and other business partners.

Directors’ liabilities
The company has purchased directors’ and ofﬁcers fiability insurance cover which was in place during the period and
remains in force as at the date of this report.

Disclosure of information to auditor

Each of the persons who is a director at the date of approval of this annual report confirms that, so far as the director .

is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the company's-auditor is unaware and the director has taken
all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself/herself aware of any relevant
-audit information and to establish that the company’s auditor is aware of that information. This confirmation is given
and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of 418 of the Companies Act 2008.

The Directors’ Report has been approved by the board of directors.

By order of the board
| - S .
Claire Chadwick . ' - Registered office:
Company Secretary | Second Avenue, Poynion lndustrial Estate

) . - Poynton, Cheshire SK12 1ND

3l /032019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
to the members of AP! Group plc .-

Opinion
In our opinion:
o the financial statements of APl Group plc (the 'Parent Company) and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group') give a
true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Parent Company'’s affairs as at 31 December 2018
- and of the Group’s loss for the year then ended; :
e the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with Intemational Financial
" Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union;

"o the Parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared i in accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, including Fmancnal Repomng Standard 101 "Reduced Disclosure
Framework”; and

e ~ the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006.

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:
o the consolidated income statement;
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income;
the consolidated statement of financial position;
the parent company balance sheet;
the consolidated and parent company statements of changes in equity;
the consolidated cash flow statement; ’
the consolidated and parent company statements of accounting policies; and
the related notes 1 to 24 to the Group fi nancnal statements and 1 to 12 to the Parent Company financial
statements.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Group financial statements is
applicable law and IFRSs as adopted by the European Union. The financial reporting framework that has been
applied in preparation of the Parent Company financial statements ‘is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting
Standards, including Financial Reportmg Standard 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework” (United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Practice).

‘ Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law.
Our responsibilities under-those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of
financial statements section.of our report.

We are independent of the Group and the Parent Company in accordance with ethical requirements that are relevant
to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our

. other ethical responsibilities in accordance with those requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
We are required by ISAs (UK) to report in respect of the following matters where:
. the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is
not appropriate; or
e the Directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may
cast doubt about the Group or the Parent Company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are’
authorised for issue.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Other information '

The Directors are responsible for the other. information. The other information comprises the information included in.
the annual report, other than the financial statements and our.auditor’s report thereon. Qur opinion on the financial
statements does not.cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or: otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other financial information. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. ’ ’

We have nothing to report in this regard.

aa



- Responsibilities of Directors
As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities statement, the Directors are responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as
the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial slatements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or-error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and Parent Company'’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern.basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the Parent Company ‘or to

cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. ’

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue ‘an auditor's report that includes our. opinion. -
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance

with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error-
and are,'considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the

economic decisions of the users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

- A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Financial
Reporting- Council's website at: hitps: //www frc.orq. uk/audltorsresponsmllmes This description forms part of our
auditor’s report.

. Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
« the information given in the Strategic repon and Directors’ report for the financial year for which the
- financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
e the Strategic report and Directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements

‘

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report in respect of the following matters if, in our oplmon
. adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit
have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
. the Parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
» certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or I
e we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. g

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance wnh Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent .
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

i les ’%_ o .
Giles Murphy (Senior Statutory Auditor) .

For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP, statutory auditor
Manchester . .
United Kingdom

31 July 2019
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 December 2018

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
Note £000 £'000
Revenue 2 124,627 147,118
Cost of sales (107,109) (117,303)
Gross profit 17,518 29,815
Distribution costs (5,066) (5,661)
Administrative expenses (excluding exceptional items) (19,145) (20,462)
Administrative expenses — exceptional items {13,810) (3,352)
Total administrative expenses )} {32,955) (23,814)
[ Operating (loss) / profit before exceptional items 3 "~ (6,693) 3,692 |
Operating (loss) / profit . (20,503) 340
Finance costs 6 (1,554) (1,550)
Loss before taxation (22,057) (1,210)
Tax expense 7 {210) (720)
Loss for the year ) (22,267) (1,930)
All profits / (losses) are attributable to equity holders of the parent and relate to continuing operations.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 31 December 2018 '
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
Note " £000 £000
Loss for the year (22,267) (1,930) .
Items that may be reclassified to profit or-loss in subsequent ‘
periods: : .
Exchange differences on retranslation of foreign operations : (478) (683)
Change in fair value of effective cash flow hedges 21 (52) 692 -
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent
periods: .
Re-measurement gains on defined benefit pension schemes 18 1,907 5,665
Tax on items relating to components of other comprehensive income 7 (346) (1,155)
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 1,031 4,519
Total comprehensive (expense) / income for the year attributable
(21,236) 2,589

to equity holders of the parent :

The notes on pages 17 to 36 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 31 December 2018

31 December 31 December

2018 2017
Note £'000 £000
Assets : ’
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 8 32,373 31,989
Intangible assets 9 2,981 10,847
-Deferred tax assets N 7 1.411 1,560
] 36,765 44,398
Current assets ' ’ ' i N :
Assets classified as held for sale 12 254 —
Trade and other receivables 13 . 22937 28,054
Income tax receivable 1,039 999
inventories 14 16,398 17,036
Derivative financial assets 21 . 54 124
_Cash and cash equivalents 15 3448 4,667
) ; 44130 . 50,880
Total assets ] N _ - 80,895 95,276
Liabilities )
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 16 33,318 37,876
Other financial fiabilities ’ 17 1,015 1,363
Income tax payable . 617 406
] j 34,950 39,845
Non-current liabilities L
Other financial liabilities . . 17 28,326 16,250
Deferved tax liabilities . ' . 7 300 215
Deficit on defined benefit pension schemes . .18 .. 11,982 12,586
) . ) 40,608 ) 29,051
TYotal liabilities : : 75,558 . 68,686
Net assets . B e ) 5,337 26,580
Equity . .
Called-up share capital 19 767 767
Share premium o 7,136 7,136
Other reserves - .20 9,415 9,415
Foreign exchange reserve 20 . 1,488 1,866
_Retained (losses)/ eamnings . . {13,469) 7,286
Equity ‘shg‘reholdérs' funds .~ R . 5337 26,580

The financial statements have been approved by the board of directors.
Signedn behalf of the board

Ko Antinos Kmakopoulos
Director

3il#lzci4a

Company number: 00169249

The notes on pages 17 to 36 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

for the year ended 31 December 2018

For the years ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, there was no interim or final dividend.

Details of other reserves are set out in note 20.'

The notes on pages 17 to 36 form part of these financial statements

Called-up : : Foreign  Retained / Total
share Share Other  exchange (losses) shareholders’
capital premium  reserves reserve eamings. . equity
£000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 - £000
- At 31 December 2016 767 7,136 9,415 2,649 - 4,024 - 23,991
Loss for the year — — — —_ (1,930) (1,930)
Other comprehensnve (expense) / , - .
income:
Exchange dlfferences on retranslation )
of foreign operations S = — — (683) —. (683)
Change in fair value of effective cash
flow hedges — — —_ — 692 692
Re-measurement gains on defined DA
benefit pension schemes - — — — 5,665 5,665
Tax on items relating to components of
other comprehensive income - . C— — — — (1,155) (1,155)
Total comprehensive income o
for the year R — (683) 3,272 2,589
At 31 December 2017 767 7,136 9,415 1,966 7,296 26,580
Loss for the year . —. — — (22,267) (22,267)
Other comprehensnve (expense) /
income:
Exchange differences on retranslation . o
of foreign operations : o — — — (478) — (478)
Change in fair value of effective cash L
flow hedges . — —_ —_ —_ (52) - (52)
Re-meastrement gams on defined :
-benefit pension schemes . — — — — 1,907 1,907
Tax on items relating to components of
other comprehensive income | — — o (346) (346).
Total comprehensive expense . /
for the year . — — — (478)  (20,758) (21,236)
On adoption of new revenue recognmon . o
accounting standard — — — L - (7). (7)
At 31 December 2018 . 767 7,136 9,415 1,488 (13,469) 5,337
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" CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
- for the year ended 31 December 2018

Cash and cash equivaients at the end of the year

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
. 2018 2017
Note £'000 £'000
Operating activities
Group loss after tax ) (22,267) (1,930)
Adjustments to reconcile group loss after tax to net cash flow from operating
activities: . . -

"_Tax expense : . 210 720
Net finance costs 1,554 1,549
Depreciation of property, plant and-equipment 4,107 3,021
Loss / (profit) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 775 (4,124)
Impairment of intangible fixed assets 5,829 964
Amortisation of intangible fixed assets 435 457
Movement in fair value foreign exchange contracts 56 (68)
Withdrawal liability from multi-employer pension scheme - 3,365
Pension contributions and scheme expenses paid (1,245) (1,090)
Defined benefit pension scheme operating profit charge 1,970 —_—
Decrease / (increase) in inventories ’ 1,076 (1,314)
Decrease / (increase) in trade and other receivables 6,906 (4,884)
(Decrease) / increase in trade and other payables (6,531) 10,960
Cash (absorbed by) / generated from operations {7,125) 7,626
Interest paid . ' {1,297) (1,138)
Income taxes received / (paid) 194 (1,587)
Net cash flow from operating activities (8,228) 4,901 .
Investing activities '
Purchase of property, plant and equipment. (6,218) (6,844)
Sale of property, plant and equipment 533 8,738
Net cash flow (used in) / generated from investing activities (5,685) . 1,894
Financing activities )

New borrowings 13,013 17,062
Repayment of loans - (22,617)
Repayment of finance leases - (541) (631)
Net cash flow generated from / (used in) financing activities . 12,472 (6,186)
(Decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents ’ {1,441) 609
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents 66 (84)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 3,985 3,460
15 2,610 3,985 -

The notes on pages 17 to 36 form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

1. Group accounting policies

Authorisation of financial statements

The group’s financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 were authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 31 July 2019 and the statement of financial position was signed on the board’s behalf by Kostantinos
Kiriakopoulos, director. AP Group plc is a public company limited by shares, incorporated in the United Kingdom and
is registered in England and Wales. The registered address of API Group plc is set out in the Directors’ Report.

Basis of preparatlon and statement of compliance with IFRS

The group’s financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except as dlsclosed in the
accounting policies below, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the
European Union as they apply to the financial statements of the group for the year ended 31 December 2018 and
applied in accordance with the Companies Act 2006. The group has applied optlonal exemptions available to it under
IFRS 1.

The group financial statements are presented in sterling, which is the primary economic environmen't in which the
group operates, and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (£'000) except when otherwise indicated.

Changes in accounting policies
In the preparation of these group financial statements, the group followed the same accounting policies and methods
of computation as compared with those applied in the previous period. .

Accounting standards adopted in the period
During 2018 IFRS 9 (Financial Instruments) and IFRS 15 (Revenue from Contracts with Customers) were adopted,
with an |mmatena| impact on the group’s accounts.

. . : Effective date
IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments \ 1 January 2018
_lFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018

IFRS 9 - Financial instruments was adopted on 1 January 2018, replacing IAS 39 Financial Instruments. This
standard covers the classification, measurement, impairment and de-recognition of financial assets and financial
liabilities together with a.new hedge accounting model. IFRS 9 requires the group to recognise expected credit losses
and to update these estimates periodically to reflect changes in the credit risk of financial assets.

The Group transition to this standard has not had a material impact on the financial statements.

FRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers was adopted on 1 January 2018, replacing IAS 11 Construction
Contracts and IAS 18 Revenue. IFRS 15 introduced a 5-step approach to revenue recognition, requiring separation
of performance obligations within customer contracts and the contractual value to be allocated: to each of the
performance obligations. Revenue is then recognised as each performance obligation is satisfied.

Retrospective application in the comparative year ending 31 December 2017 is optional; however, the Group did not *
undertake this option. The group transition to this standard has not had a material impact on the financial
statements. . .

New standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not effective or early adopted by the group
The following standard has been issued but is not yet effective and has not been early adopted by the group:

1FRS 16 — Leases applies to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 and will introduce changes to
lessee accounting by removing the distinction between operating and finance leases, requiring the recognition of a.
‘right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the commencement of all leases. Leases previously classified as operating -
leases with lease payments recorded in the Consolidated Income Statement will now be included in thé Consolidated
Balance Sheet, increasing both non-current assets and financial liabilities.

Lease charges are offset by higher interest expense resulting in an insignificant impact on net profit. EBITDA
increases due to the replacement of the operating lease expense with interest and amortisation of the lease.

The group has completed its impact assessment of this standard and the expected impact. of applying IFRS 16 in its
first full year of application is detailed below:

Increase in financial liabilities of £5.1m
Increase in right-of-use assets of £3.2m
EBITDA is expected to increase by £1.3m
Increase in finance costs of £0.2m

Profit before tax unchanged

The group plans to apply IFRS 16 jnitially on 1 January 2019 using a modified retrospective approach. Therefore, the
cumulative effect of adopting IFRS 16 will be recognised as an adjustment to the opemng balance of retained
earnings at 1 January 2019, with no restatement of comparatives.

. Other than as described above, there are no new standards, amendments or mterpretauons which are not yet
effectlve that would be expected to have a material impact on the group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

1. Group accounting policies (continued)

Significant judgements and estimates

In the course of preparing the financial statements, no judgements have been made in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting pollcres other than those involving estimations (below) that have had a significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estrmatron uncertainty at the balance sheet
date, that have a significant effect on amounts recognrsed in the financial statements are as follows.

e Impairment-of non-financial assets
* The group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets. Goodwill is
tested for impainnent annually or at other times when relevant indicators exist. Other non-financial assets
are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying values may not be recoverable. When
value-in-use. calculations are undertaken, management must estimate expected cash flows from the asset
or cash generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate to calculate the net present value of those cash
flows. Further details regarding impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible fixed assets are
given in note 10.
e  Deferred tax assets /
" Management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognrsed
based on the likely timing-and level of future taxable profits. Further details are given in note 7.

e Pensions and other post-retirement benefits
The cost and valuation of defined benefit pension plans is determined using actuarial valuations. This
- involves making assumptions about discount rates, future applicable salary and pension increases and
mortality rates. Due to the long-term nature of. these plans, such estimates are subject to significant
uncertainty. Further details are given in note 18.

Basis of consolidation )
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the group and its subsidiaries as at 31
December 2018. Control is achieved when the group is exposed, or has rights, to variable retums from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.
Specifically, the group controls an investee if, and only if, the group has: .

e  Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current abrlrty to direct the relevant activities of

the investee). .
. Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee.
e  The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights result in control. The group re-assesses whether or
not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the group obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the group loses control of the subsidiary Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary
acqunred or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the group
gains control until the date the group ceases to.control the subsidiary.

All intra-group assets and Iiabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the group are eliminated in full on consolidation. |

Business combinations and goodwill
On the acquisition of a business, fair values are attributed to the net assets. acquired. Goodwill arises where the fair
value of the consideration given for a business exceeds the fair value of such net assets.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions is capitalised and subject to annual impairment review. Between 5 October 1997 and
1 October 2004 goodwul was amortised over its estimated useful life. Such amortisation ceased on 30 September ,
2004. The group’s policy before 5 October 1997 was to eliminate goodwill arising upon acquisitions against reserves
Under IFRS 1 and IFRS 3, such goodwull will remain eliminated against reserves.

Interests in joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is an arrangement over which two or more parties have joint control. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities (being those that significantly affect the returns of the arrangement) require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

A joint operation is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the assets and liabilities, relating to the arrangement. In relation to its interest in joint operations, the group
recognises:

Assets, including |ts share of any assets held jointly

Liabilities, including its share ‘of the liabilities incurred jointly

Revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation

Share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation

Expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2018

1. Group accounting bolicies {continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in a contract with a
customer and excludes value added tax, estimated rebates, returns and settlement discounts. The Group recognises
revenue when it transfers control of a product or service to a customer which is completed on dispatch. Rebates and
discounts are recognised in accordance with contractual obligations held with customers. They are recognised in the
period to which they relate.

Exceptional items
Exceptional items are material items which derive from events which fall within the ordinary. activities of the group and
which require separate disclosure by virtue of their size or incidence.

Borrowmg costs
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the aoqwsmon construction or production of a qualifying asset form
part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense. ’

Property, plant and equipment’

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated lmpalrment losses.
The group’s policy is to write off the difference between the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment and its
residual value systematically over its estimated useful life. Annual reviews are made of the estimated remaining lives
and residual values of individual productive assets, taking account of commercial and technological obsolescence as
well as normal wear and tear. Under this policy it becomes lmpractlcal to indicate average asset lives exactly but the
mdlcatnve ranges are as follows:

. freehold bun|d|ngs and long leasehold property — 14 to 50 years;
e  plant and machinery — 5-to 20 years;

« office and IT equipment — 3 to 10 years; and

« freehold and leasehold land is not depreciated.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in
the income statement in the year the item is derecognised.

As permitted by IFRS 1, property previously revalued before the transition date of 1 October 2004 has been treated
as deemed cost at the transition date.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately from a business are capltallsed at cost. Intanglble assets acqunred with a
business acquisition are capitalised at fair value at the date of acquisition if the asset is separable or arises from -
contractual or other legal rights and its fair value can be measured reliably. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed as finite or indefinite. Customer relationships have an estimated useful life of 7 years and are amortised on
a straight line basis. Trade names have an estimated useful life of 10 years and are amortised on a straight line
basis. Except as set out in the policy for research and development costs, internally generated intangible assets are
not capitalised and expenditure is charged against income as it is incurred.

Impamnent of non-financial assets

The carrying values of intangible assets are reviewed annually for lmpalrment or if events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. Property, plant and equipment are reviewed to
ensure that assets are not carried at above their recoverable amounts once some indication of impairment exists.
Calculations are made of the discounted cash flows resulting from continued use of the assets (value in use) or from
their disposal (fair value less costs to sell). Where these values are less than the carrying amount of the assets, an
impairment loss is charged to the income statement. .

Research and development costs )

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development expenditure on an individual project is recognised as an
intangible asset when the group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it
will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will
generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the asset and the ability to measure
reliably the expenditure during development.

Leases

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classuﬁed as
operating leases and rentals payable are charged in the income statement on a straight-line ba5|s over the lease
term. .

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and estimated net realisable value. Cost is determined on a first-in first-out
.basis. Cost of work in progress and finished goods-comprises the cost of raw materials, direct labour and overheads
attributable to the productlon of inventory. Net reahsable value compnses the estimated selling value less selling
costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2018 :

1. Group accounting policies (continued)

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice value less an allowance for any amounts
which may not be collectible. Should an amount become uncollectlble it is written off to the income statement in the
period in which it is identified.

-Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents principally comprlse funds held with banks and other financial institutions with an original
maturity of three months or less. For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement cash and cash equivalents
are as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdraﬂs .

Assets held for sale

_Non-current assets and assocnated liabilities are classified-as held for sale when their carrying amount will be
recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than continuing use and a sale is highly probable. Assets
designated as held for sale are held at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Depreaatlon is
not charged against property, plant and equnpment classnﬁed as held for sale.

Financial Ilablhtles - mterest-bearmg loans and bon'owmgs

All loans and borrowings are initially .recognised at fair value of the consideration received net of issue costs
associated with the borrowing. After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost under the effective interest rate method.

Provisions
Provisions are recogmsed when the group has a present obllgatlon (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
- reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where the group expects some or all of a provision to
be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but
only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented ih the income
statement net of any reimbursement. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in
the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

Taxation .

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates and laws that are enacted or substantively enacted by the date of the statement of
financial position.

Deferred income tax is recognised on all temporary différences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
_ and their carrying amounts in the financial statements, with the following exceptions:

e where the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting

~nor taxable profit or loss;

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, where the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and |t is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

e  deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be

_ available against which the deductible temporary differences, carried forward tax credits or tax losses can
be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected
to apply when the related asset is realised or liability is settled, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the date of the statement of financial position. The carrying value of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
each date of the statement of financial position. -

Income tax is charged or credited directly to equity if it relates to items that are credited or'charged to equi‘ty.'
-Otherv_vise income tax is recognised in the income statement or other comprehensive income.

Going concern .

The directors are satisfi ed on the. basis of the group's latest financial projections and facilities avanlable that the
group has adequate financial resources to continue to operate for the foreseeable future. The directors therefore
continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing these financial statements. Further detans on the going
concern basis are given in the Directors’ Report.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS .
for the year ended 31 December 2018

1. Group accounting policies (continued)

Pensions and other post-retirement benefits
The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit pension plans is determined separately. for each plan ‘using
the projected unit credit method. .

Re-measurements are recognised immediately in the statement of financial position with a corresponding debit or
credit to retained eamings through Other Comprehensive Income in the period in whichthey occur. Re-
.measurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss account on the earlier of:

« the date of the plan amendment or curtailment; and

e the date that\the group recognises restructuring related costs.
Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset. The difference
between the return on plan assets and the interest income on plan assets recognised in the income statement as"
other finance revenue or cost is recognised in Other Comprehensive Income.
Contributions to defined contnbutlon schemes are recogmsed in the income statement in the penod in WhICh they
become payable.

The US business was a participant of a multi-employer defined benefit pension scheme until July 2019. This scheme‘ '
was accounted for as a defined contribution scheme until 31 December 2017, as the information avallable from the
scheme administrators was insufficient for it to be accounted for as a defined benefit scheme.

Foreign currencies

" The assets and liabilities of overseas subsidiary undertakmgs are translated into sterling at rates ruling at the date of
the statement of financial position and trading items at the average rate for the period. The exchange differences
arising on the translation of the financial statements of foreign subsidiary undertakings are taken directly to a
separate component of equity. On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognlsed in equ|ty
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the income statement. :

Transactions in foreign currenmes are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the
statement of financial position. All translation differences are taken to the income statement.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging

The group uses derivative financial instruments such as forward currency contracts to hedge its risks associated wnth
foreign currency fluctuations. Such derivative instruments are measured at fair value on the date which the derivative
contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured at fair value at the date of the statement of financial
position. Derivatives are carried as assets if the fair value is positive and liabilities if the fair value is negative. The fair
value of forward currency contracts is calculated by reference to current forward exchange rates for contracts with
~ similar maturity profiles.

Hedge accounting is adopted when the hedging relationship is formally designated and documented on inception.
Such hedges are expected to be highly effective in offsetting changes in fair.value or cash flows and are assessed on
“an ongoing basis to determine whéther they have been highly effective during the reporting period for which they
were designated. Gains and losses arising from the changes in the fair value of derivatives that do not qualify for
‘hedge accounting are taken to finance revenue or finance costs in the income statement.

Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation are accounted for in a similar way. Gains or losses relating to the
effective portion are recognised directly in equity while any gains or losses relating to the ineffective portion are
recognised in the income statement. On the disposal of the foreign operation, the cumulative value of any gains or
losses recognised directly in equity is transferred to the income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

2. Revenue analysis

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
. £'000 £'000
Total revenue by origin j ¢ .
Laminates Europe . : 57,566 66,345
Foils Europe | ' ) 33,906 33,250
Foils Americas - X 18,790 24,669
Laminates Americas . 10,514 156,909
Netherlands ) 9,723 11,927
130,499 152,100
Inter-segmental revenue i . o o
Laminates Europe . "9 137
Foils Europe . 5,300 4,129
Foils Americas . ' 439 568
Laminates Americas ' ’ — 4
Netherlands - . . 124 . 144
: — 5,872 4,982
External revenue by origin
Laminates Europe ’ ’ 57,557 66,208
Foils Europe ’ N . e 28,606 29,121 .
Foils Americas . ' . 18,351 24,101 -
Laminates Americas . . : 10,514 15,905
Netherlands © 9,599 11,783
Segment revenue © 124,627 147,118
External revenue by destination o
UK . 19,807 21,842
Rest of Europé : ) . 73,454 83,019
Americas : ' : 27,652 36,109 -
Asia Pacific ’ 3,691 6,075
Africa . 23 73
Segment revenue : . 124,627 147,118

All revenue is derived from the sale of goods. Trading between operating segments is on an am’s length basus and

accounted for.in a similar manner to transactions with third parties.

3. Operating loss before exceptional items

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
: £'000 £000
This is stated after charging/(crediting):
Research and development expenditure expensed during the year . 553 635
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4,107 3,024
Amortisation of intangible assets . . ) 435 455
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equlpment ’ . 775 3
-Cost of inventories recognised as an expense . 79,483 86,040
Including write-down of inventories to net realisable value . 835 449
Net foreign currency differences (86) (124)
Operating lease payments — minimum lease payments - ) 1,662 1,691
Fees payable to the company's auditor for audit of the company’s accounts 40 30
Fees payable to the company’s auditor and its associates for-other services ‘
- audit of the UK defined benefit pension scheme ) - A 7
— audit of the accounts of subsidiaries- . 110 80

Deloitte LLP were appointed as auditor in the yeaf ended 31 December 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2018

4. Staff costs and dlrectors emoluments -
. . i Year ended

Year ended-

31 December 31 December
2018 2017
£'000 £000
- Wages and salaries . ' ) 24,609 26,307
Social security costs ' : 2,741 2,689
Deﬁned contribution pension costs : 950 1,027 .
: 28,300 30,023 -

The average monthly number of employees (excluding non—executlve Directors) during the year was made up

as follows:
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
. . Number Number
Laminates Europe o ' 121 119
Foils Europe ’ o . 220 231
Foils Americas o : : _ . 130 147
" Laminates Americas : . C 4 51
Netherlands . 46 54
Central ) ) 29 28
: ] 590 630
. RN
Directors’ emoluments : . :
’ Year ended Year ended
31 December . 31 December
2018 . 2017
£'000 £000
* Total .
Aggregate emoluments ) 34 33 .

* None of the directors in the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: nil) were members of any of the defined benefit

pension schemes or defined contribution pension schemes.

No share options were issued or exercised in the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: nil).
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NOTES TO THEACONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

5. Exceptional items .
Year ended ~ Year ended

* 31 December 31 December

2018 2017

£000 £'000

Profit on the sale of Rahway property ’ ’ -— 3,096
Profit on the sale of Salford ’ : - 1,208 -

Consolidation of US manufacturing operations ) (2,563) (2,133)

Withdrawal liability from US multi-employer pension plan : - © (3,365)

Reorganisation of Foils Europe distribution network (518) T (642)

_Impaimment of intangible fixed assets — Laminates Americas (4,555) | —

Impairment of intangible fixed assets — Netheriands (1,274) —

Goodwill impairment for Foils Europe - Germany ' - . (964)

. Reorganisation of API Netherlands and closure of manufacturing - (2,930) (405)

GMP equalisation liability (1,970) .=

Other exceptional items . - (147)

. : (13,810) (3,352)

Year ended 31 December 2018

The consolidation of US foils manufacturing operatlons was completed in the year ended 31 December 2018 with the
closure of the manufacturing facility in Rahway. New Jersey.

Following the closure of the foils sales company in Germany in 2017, in the year ended 31 December 2018 there
were reorganisations within the foils sales company in France.

Reflecting the financial performance of certain parts of the business, impairment provisions were made in the year
ended 31 December 2018 against several intangible fixed assets; £4,555,000 for the intangibles fixed assets of
Laminates Americas (a division of. APl Americas Inc) and £1,274,000 for the mtanglble fixed assets of API
: Nethedands BV.

In the year ended 31 December 2018, the ,reorganisation of API Netherlands BV was completed. This involved
several aspects including (i) the transfer of the Laminates business to other group undertakings and the associated
closure of Laminates manufacturing operations in the Netherlands (ji) the establishment of a foils sales operation and
(iii) the relocation of the remaining activities to another facility close to Amsterdam.

A High Court ruling in October 2018 held that UK pension funds with Guaranteed Minimum Pensions ("GMPs") built
up from 17 May 1990 to 5 April 1997 must equalise benefits for the different effects of these GMPs between men and
women. The ‘one off cost for the equalisation of these past service benefits has been estimated at £1,970,000.

Year ended 31 December 2017

In January 2017 the Rahway property was sold realising a profit on sale of £3,096,000 and in May 2017 the Salford
property was sold realising a profit on sale of £1,208,000. Both of these properties had been disclosed as ‘assets
classified as held for sale’ at 31 December 2016.

In the year ended 31 December 2017 costs of £2,133,000 were incurred for the consolidation of US manufacturing
operations. This included estimated employee termination costs of £785,000 which were expected to be paid out in
201 8

A non-contributory pension scheme was operated for members of the North. New Jersey Teamsters 11 Union
employed at the group's site in Rahway, New' Jersey. This scheme was a multi-employer defined benefit scheme
which had been accounted for as a defined contribution scheme, as the information available from the scheme
administrators was insufficient for it to be accounted for as a defined benefit scheme. Under the rules of the scheme ..
the employer was not liable for any deficit of the scheme unless it withdrew from the scheme. Due to the expected
. closure of the Rahway site in 2018, a discounted withdrawal liability was provided for in the year ended 31 December

- 2017 of £3,365,000.

The closure of the foils sales company in Germany was announced in November 2017. Costs to close the Geman
operation amounted to £642,000. In addition, the goodwill of £964,000 relating for Foils Germany was provided for in
the year ended 31 December 2017.

In the year ended 31 December 2017 costs were incurred for the reorganisation of APl Netherlands BV; that
reorganisation was expected to be completed by the end of 2018.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

6. Finance costs

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2018 : 2017
£'000 £'000

Finance costs ’ :
Interest payable on bank loans, overdrafts and finance leases. (1,297) (1,129)
Other interest payable - y o (23) (2)
Finance cost in respect of defined benefit pension‘plans ) ) (234) (419)
’ ) : (1,554) (1,550)

Included within interest payable on bank loans, overdrafts and finance leases is £9,000 (2017: £109,000) relating to .

the amortisation of fées and expenses incurred in obtaining bank facilities.

7. Taxation

a) Tax expense in the mcome statement
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
£'000 £000
Current income tax . .
UK corporation tax . . 569 555
Overseas tax ’ : 109 292
Adjustment-to prior periods . . X (356) (265)
Total current income tax expense - N 322 582
Deferred tax ‘ ’
Origination and reversal of temporary dlfferences . .
- defined benefit pension plan {251). 54
— capital allowances . . . 139 84
Total deferred tax (credit) / expense (112) 138
Total tax expense in the income statement 210 720
‘(b) Tax expense on items accounted for through other comprehensive income :
. . Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
. £°000 £000
Deferred tax . ‘
Re-measurement gains and losses on defined benefit pension schemes ) 356 1,022
Change in fair value of effective cash flow hedges . (10) 133
) 346 1,155

(c) Reconc:hatlon of the total tax charge

The tax rate in the income statement for the year is higher (2017 hlgher) than lhe standard rate of corporatuon taxin

the UK of 19% (2017: 19.256%). The dlfferences are reconciled below:

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
. : £000 £'000
Accounting loss before tax (22,057) (1,210)
Accounting loss multiplied by the UK standard rate of corporation -
tax of 19% (2017: 19.25%) . (4,191) (233)
Adjustments to tax charge in respect of prior periods (356) (265)
Adjustments in respect of foreign tax rates 31 98
Decrease in deferred tax asset recognised on losses and capital
allowances . ) - (334)
Losses for which deferred tax is not recognised : 3,514 - 523
-Losses utilised §— (460)
Other temporary differences for WhICh deferred tax is not
recognised-. . . -— (69)
Effect of change in tax rate : : . 30 —
.. Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1,182 1,460
Total tax expense reported in the income statement . 210 720
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2018

7. Taxation (continued)

(d) Deferred tax

The deferred tax included in the statement of financial position is analysed as follows: :
31 December - 31 December

2018 : 2017
£000 £'000
Deferred tax liability : ;
Revaluation of fixed assets {156) (156)
Capital allowances ) . (144) ) (59)
(300) (215)
Deferred tax asset )
Defined benefit pension plans . 1,349 1,454
Fair value of cash flow hedges 14 4
Capital allowances 48 102
1,411 : - 1,560
The movement in deferred tax included in the year comprises:
. ’ 31 December 31 December
2018 2017
£000 £000
At the start of the year : ’ : 1,345 2,638
Income statement credit / (charge) | 112 (138)
Tax on items relating to other comprehenswe income {346) (1,155)
At the end of the year . 1,111 1,345

A reduction in the UK corporation tax rate from 19% to 17% (effective from 1 April 2020) has been substantively
enacted. This will impact the group’s future current tax charge accordingly. The deferred tax assets and liabilities at.
31 December 2018 have been calculated based at the rates of tax substantively enacted at the date of the statement
of financial position.

(e) Unrecognised tax losses

The group has unrecognised tax losses arising in the UK of £2,388,000 (2017: £2,388,000) that are available and
may be offset against future taxable profits of those businesses in which the losses arose. The UK tax group also has
unrecognised capital allowances of £242,000 (2017: £283,000) available to offset against future taxable profits at the
rate of 17%/19% (2017: 17/19%) a year on a.reducing balance basis. The group has unrecognised US federal tax
losses available for carry forward of $18,813,000 (2017: $6,040,000), which are available for offset against future
profits for a period of between 4 and 20 years.

" 8. Property, plant and equipment ’
. Long

. leasehold ) " Office
Freehold Freehold landand  Plant and and IT .
land buildings  buildings machinery equipment . Total

: £000 £000 - £'000 £000 £'000 . £'000
Cost
At 31 December 2016 1,033 11,270 1,990 59,699 10,268 84,260
Additions — : 1,594 ’ 104 5,641 662 8,001
Disposals —_ — — - (1,351) (607) (1,958)
Foreign currency adjustment 46 - (1,069) 1 (1,839) (285) . (3,146)
At 31 December 2017 1,079 11,795 2,095 62,150 10,038 87,157
Additions - — 1,307 158 2,375 874 4714 -
Disposals . (109) — (23) (11,096) (1,322) (12,550)
Foreign currency adjustment 46 792 2 1,094 ~ - 166 2,100
At 31 December 2018 1,016 13,894 2,232 54,523 9,756 81,421

" Depreciation ] ' .

At 31 December 2016 —_ 4,631 1,092 43,287 . 6,832 55,842
Provided during the year — 291 120 1,940 673 3,024
Disposals . — . — — (1,002) (597) (1,599)
Foreign currency adjustment — (5085) -1 (1,365) (230) (2,099)
At 31 December 2017 — 4,417 1213 . 42,860 6,678 55,168
Provided during the year — 461"~ 85 2,798 - 763 4,107
Disposals e - (22)  (10,099) (1121 - (11,242)
Foreign currency adjustment — 280 ) — 680 - 55 1,015
At 31 December 2018 — 5,158 1,276 ' 36,239 6,375 49,048
Net book value at 31 ) .
December 2018 1,016 8,736 956 18,284 3,381 32,373
Net book value at 31 .

December 2017 1,079 7,378 882 19,290 3,360 31,989

Net book value at 31

December 2016 : . : 1,033 6,639 898 16,412 3,436 28,418
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

8. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Finance leases

Included in the net book value of plant and machmery is £1,566,000 (2017: £1, 710 000) relating to assets acqu;red
under finance Ieases

Construction work-in-progress
Included in the. cost of property, plant and equipment is £8,819, 000 (2017: £5,444 ,000) relatlng to construction work-
in-progress. .

Commltments
Amounts contracted in respect of property, plant and equment (mcludmg construction work-in-progress) amounted
to £439,000 (2017: £758,000). See note 22.

Security

The group’s UK borrowings were £nil at 31 December 2018 (2017 £n|I) The US loans of £28,326,000 (2017:
£16,250,000) are pledged agalnst certain property, plant and equupment to the value of £17,185,000 (2017:
" £15,925,000).

9. Intangible assets ‘ ' ! .

: Customer .
Goodwill relationships Trade name © Total
£000 ___£'000 £000- - £'000
Cost :

At 31 December 2016 ' 9,768 3,034 374 13,176
Additions - reclassifications - : 127 - (125) ’ (2) —
Foreign currency adjustment : (206) (161) 15 (352)
At 31 December 2017 - ..9,689 2,748 387 12,824
Disposals (3,541) (762) - (392) (4,695)
Foreign currency adjustment 245 - 143 -5 393
At 31 December 2018 6,393 2,129 — 8,522

Impairment / amortisation ] :
At 31 December 2016 - . . 451 130 — 581
Amortisation in the year : . — 414 41 455
Impairment provision. 964 —_ — 964
Foreign currency adjustment ) — (24) 1 (23)
At 31 December 2017 © 1,415 520 42 1,977
Amortisation in the year : — 396 . 39 T 435
Impairment provus;on . 4,202 1,322 305 5,829
Disposals (2,399) (227) . (392) (3,018)
Foreign currency adjustment - 194 118 6 318
At 31 December 2018 3,412 2,129 : — 5,541
Net book value at 31 December 2018 . 2,981 —_— —_ 2,981
Net book value at 31 December 2017 8,274 2,228 . - 345 10,847
. Net book value-at 31 December 2016 9,317 2,904 374 12,595

As from 1 October 2004, the date of transition to IFRS, goodwill was no longer amortised (prevnously amortised over
a period up.to 20 years) but is now subject to annual |mpa|n'nenl testing.

Carrying amount of goodwill allocated to cash-generating units:
. 31 December 31 December 31 December

. 2018 2017 - 2016

£'000 £'000 ° £'000

' Foils Europe — UK 2,538 2,538 2,538
Foils Europe — Germany . _ — 964
Laminates Americas ’ —_ 3,198 3,501
Laminates Europe : 443 - — —
API Netherlands ) —_ 2,538 -2,314

: : 2,981 ) 8,274 9,317

The goodwill in Laminates Europe of £443,000 has arisen as part of the Laminates business in APl Netherlands BV
was transferred to API Laminates Limited in the year ended 31 December 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

10. Impairment of non-financial assets

The directors have reviewed impairment tests at 31 December 2018 for cash generating units.that have a goodWilI
allocation and for any of these units or other units in the group that have indicators of impairment of other intangible
fixed assets (customer relationships and trade names) and property, plant and equipment. .
Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated for impairment testing purposes to the
following cash-generating units:

e  Foils Europe ~ UK
. Laminates Americas; and-
e  Laminates Europe — UK (as a result of goodwill transferred from API Netherlands B.V.).

These represent the lowest level within the group at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.
The value of goodwill allocated to these units is listed in note 9.

The recoverable amount of each of the cash generating units has been determined- on a value in use basis. Value in
use is calculated as the net present value of pre-tax cash flows based on budgets for the year ended 31 December
2019 and forecasts for the following 4 years which have been approved by the board. The cash flows were derived
from business plans, including detailed sales forecasts by product type and geography, prepared by individual
businesses within each division. These include an allowance for detailed capital and maintenance programmes. The
growth rates and inflation have been based on independent economic data and reflect management’s assessment of
specific risks related to the cash generating units. A pre-tax discount rate of 11% (2017: 12%) has been used, which
was considered a best estimate for the current risk-adjusted cost of capital for the group.

Goodwill relatihg»to Foils Europe — Germany was provided for in the year ended 31 December 2017 as a result of the
decision to closure the operations of API Foils Deutschiand GmbH. :

11. Joint operation

- The group has a 50% interest in a company, API Optlx s.r.0. ("AP1O"). Under IFRS 11 this joint arrangement is
considered to be a joint operation.

The group’s, interests inthe assets and liabilities of APIO are as follows:

31 December 31 December

2018 2017

£'000 - £'000

Non-current assets . . 251 279
Current assets . 216 200
Current liabilities ) (31) (30)
. ) 436 , 449

The aggregate amount of the capital and reserves of APIO is £872,000 (2017: £898,000). The net loss for the year
ended 31 December 2018 is £57,000 (2017: proft of £4,000). The reglstered capltal of APIO is 25,200,000 Czech
crowns.

A decision was made in the year ended 31 December. 2018 to seII the investment in AP10O. Accordingly this has been
disclosed as an ‘asset classified as held for sale’ in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position at 31 December
2018.

12. Assets classﬂ"ed as held for sale’

In the year ended 31 December 2018, it was decided to sell the 50% interest in API Optix s.r.o. (“APIO"). Accordlngly
the investment in APIO has been classified as held for sale in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. The
sale proceeds less costs to sell are expected to be less than the camrying value of the investment and a provision has
been made in the year ended 31 December 2018 to write down the carrying value of the mvestment to estimated sale
proceeds less costs to sell of £254,000.

31 December 31 December

2018 2017
£'000 £'000

50% interest in API Optix s.r.o . 254 —

An
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2018

13. Trade and other receivables

31 December 31 December
2018 . 2017
£000 £000

Amounts falling due within one year . )
Trade receivables - . 19,074 24,145
Prepayments 921 1,819
Other debtors and accrued income : ) 2,942 2,090
: j . B 22,937 28,054

. Trade and other receivables are measured at amortised cost. The directors consider that the carrying value of trade
and other receivables is approximately equal to their fair value. Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are
generally on between 30 and 90 days’ terms. They are shown net of any provisions for impairment.

At 31 December 2018: trade receivables at a nominal value of £244,000 (2017: £157,000) were impaired and fully
provided for. Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables were as follows: )

31 December 31 December
2018 2017
£'000 £'000

_Opening provision : - 157 77
Charge for the year . 106 90
Amounts written off : (23) (13)
Foreign currency adjustment : . 4 -3
Closing provision L 244 157

Of the total trade receivables shown above, £5,922,000 (2017: £6,272,000) are past due, but not impaired. .An
- analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:"

-31 December 31 December

2018 2017

. - £'000 £000

0-30 days overdue . .o 4,724 5,099
31-60 days overdue N ' 559 699
61-80 days overdue 434 141
91+ days overdue : . 205 333

5,922 6,272

Credit risk arises from the possibility that customers may not be able to settle their obligations as agreed. Customers
are assessed for financial reliability using external rating -agencies. Secure payment terms are frequently used in
- riskier geographical areas or for riskier customers, including, payment before the order is accepted. In determining
the level of credit insurance placed, 'the group continually monitors the market to assess the cost of premiums
compared to the credit risks associated with different market and product sectors. At 31 December 2018, the
maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of trade receivables, after taking account of credit insurance, was
£3,047,000 (2017: £3,683,000). Provisions for credit risk are assessed on a regular basis with the focus on overdue
receivables.

14, Inventories

31 December 31 December

2018 2017

. . . £000 . £000
Raw materials ' 7,739 9,106
Work in progress . : 350 : 751
Finished goods B 8,309 . 7,179

16,398 17,036
See note 3 for inventories consumed.

15. Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equnvalents comprise the following:

31 December - 31 December

2018 2017 -
. £'000 £000
Cash at bank and in hand ) 3,448 4,667
Bank overdrafts (note 17) ) (838) (682)
- 2,610 3,985

Cash and cash equwalents are held at major banks with high qualnty credit ratmgs The maximum exposure to credit
risk is represented by thelr respective carrymg values.

_ Cash and cash equivalents are measured at amortised cost.

An



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2018

16.-Trade and other payables - 7
. 31 December 31 December

2018 - 2017
£'000 £000

Current ) ’ o ’ : :
Trade payables 14,236 : 18,276
Other payables o g 5,810 - 9,218
Owed to parent undertaking . © 13,272 10,382
: 33,318 . 37,876

Trade and other payables are measured at amortised cost. The directors consider that the carrylng value of trade .
and other payables is approximately equal to their fa|r value. '

" On 14 November 2017, Steel Partners Holdings L.P., through certain consolidated subsidiaries (collectively,
‘Borrowers’) entered into a new five-year $600 million revolving credit facility (‘Credit Agreement’) with PNC Bank NA
(‘PNC’). Cedar 2015 Limited, the parent undertaking of APl Group plc, is a Borrower under that Credit' Agreement. At
31 December 2018, Cedar 2015 Limited had borrowed £12,991,000 (2017: £10,386,000) under the Credit
Agreement and provided those funds to API Group plc and its subsidiary undertakings. The average interest rate for
the amount borrowed from Cedar 2015 Limited at 31 December 2018 of £12,991,000 was 3.0%.

17. Othef financial llabll!tles

31 December 31 December
2018 2017
£'000 £000
Current ) . ) . - : o
Bank overdrafts i 838 682
Current instalments due on ﬁnance leases ’ . —_ 541
Forward foreign exchange contracts (note 21) 177 140
) : ) 1,015 1,363
Non-current
Non-current instalments due on bank loans ) - 28,326 16,250
i w 28,326 16,250
Bank Ioans . o*
Bank loans comprise the foIIowmg ! .
31 December 31 December
2018 2017.
£000 £'000
Revolving loans (US) . . 28,326 16,250
’ . B 28,326 16,250
Less: current instalments due on bank loans - —_ —
- 28,326 16,250

Bank loans and bank overdrafts are meashred at amortised cost. The group’s banking facilities comprise:-

UK facilities .

On 14 November 2017, Steel Partners Holdmgs L.P., through certain consolidated subsidiaries (collectively,
‘Borrowers’) entered into’ a five-year $600 million revoIv:ng credit facility (‘Credit Agreement’) with PNC Bank NA
(‘PNC’). Cedar 2015 Limited, the parent undertaking of API-Group plc, is a Borrower under that finance facility and
-the UK facilities are prowded through Cedar 2015 Limited. - : '

US facilities . ' .
On 14 November 2017, Steel Partners Holdmgs L.P., through certain consolidated subsidiaries (collectively,
‘Borrowers’) entered into a five-year $600 million revolvnng credit facility (‘Credit Agreement’) with PNC Bank NA
('PNC’) which replaced all of the previous APl US facilities. APl Americas Inc. is a Borrower under that Credit
Agreement and at 31 December 2018 had taken out.loans of £28,326,000 (2017: £16,250,000). At 31 December
2018, interest rates were 5.0% (2017: 3.5%). As a Borrower to the Credit Agreement, at 31 December 2018, API
Americas Inc has given security over assets amounting to £26,917,000 (2017: £24,823,000) and the total amount
owed by the Borrowers under the Credit Agreement was £372,719,000 (2017: £300,843,000).

Finance leases
Finance leases comprise the following:

31 December 31 December

2018 . 2017

- £000 : £000

Within one year . - . 549
. i ) —_ 549
Less: interest allocated to future periods —_ (8)
- : —_ 541

The finance lease has a period to November 2018 at an interest rate of 3.1%.

an



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2018

18. Pensions and other post-retirement benefits

The group operetes a number of pension schemes.. Current UK employees participate in a defined contribution
scheme. Overseas employees participate in a variety of different pension arrangements of the defined contribution
type and are funded in accordance with local practice.

A non-contributory scheme was operated for members of the North New Jersey Teamsters 11 Union employed at the
group’s site in Rahway, New Jersey. This scheme was a multi-employer defined benefit scheme which had been
accounted for as-a defined contribution scheme, as the information available from the scheme administrators was
insufficient for it to be accounted for as a defined benefit scheme. Under the rules of the scheme the employer was
not liable for any deficit of the scheme.unless’it withdrew from the scheme. Due to the expected closure of the
Rahway site in 2018, a discounted withdrawal liability was provided for at 31 December 2017 of £3,205,000. The
Rahway site was closed during 2018 resulting in a withdrawal liability of $5,198,000. That liability is being settled by
240 monthly payments of $23,006 and the first payment was made in October 2018. The withdrawal liability has been
discounted at a rate of 3.10%.

In the UK, a defined benefit pension scheme, the API Group Pension and Life Assurance Scheme, was closed to

future accrual in December 2008. This was a funded pension scheme for the company and its UK subsidiaries

providing benefits based on final pensionable eamings, funded by the payment of contributions to a separately

administered trust fund. A second defined benefit scheme, operated in the US, the API Foils Inc. North American

Pension Plan, is also closed to future accrual. Due to the nature of the liabilities, the pension schemes are exposed

to inflation, interest rate risk and changes in life expectancy of members. As the plan assets include significant

investments in equities, the pension schemes are also exposed to equity market risk. The Trustees of the APl Group .
Pension and Life Assurance Scheme are responsible for the management of the penslon scheme and utilise several

" third party advisors to assist them.

A High Court ruling in October 2018 held that UK pension funds with Guaranteed Minimum Pensions (“GMPs") built
up from 17 May 1990 to 5 April 1997 must equalise benefits for the different effects of these GMPs between men and
women. The ‘one off cost for the equalisation of these past service benefits has been estimated at £1,970,000.

Pension and other post-retirement benefits comprise:

31 December 31 December
2018 2017
: - £'000 : £'000
UK defined benefit pension scheme : 7,938 8,554
US defined benefit pension scheme 831 827
Discounted withdrawal liability from Teamsters 11 plan 3,213 3,205
11,982 : 12,586
The assets and liabilities of the defined benefit schemes are:
At 31 December 2018 . ) United United
- Kingdom States Total
. £'000 £000 £'000
Equities . 30,616 . ’ 827 31,443
Bonds . / 10,732 1,130 11,862
Liability driven mvestments ) 30,480 - 30,480
Private markets ) . 10,683 - 10,683
Property ' 10,615 61 10,676
Cash 5,911 —_ . : 5,911
Fair value of scheme assets 99,037 2,018 . 101,055
Present value of scheme liabilities {106,975) (2,849) (109,824)
Net pension liability before deferred tax (7,938) (831) ~ (8,769)
At 31 December 2017 United United
) Kingdom States Total
£000 £'000 £'000
Equities 50,492 1,033 51,525
Bonds ) 10,876 1,145 12,021
Liability driven mvestments 23,128 - 23,128
Private markets ' 10,273 ‘ — 10,273
Property 9,824 67 -+ 9,891
Cash 334 - — 334
Fair value of scheme assets 104,927 2,245 107,172
Present value of scheme liabilities ) (113,481) (3,072) (116,553)
Net pension liability before deferred tax (8,554) (827) (9,381)

Equities have a quoted price in an active market (Level 1 hierarchy). The fair value of bonds, liability driven
investments and property are determined using observable market prices (Level 2 hierarchy). . The private markets
assets are Level 3 hierarchy. The funds have not invested in any of the groups own ﬁnanCIaI instruments nor in
propemes or other assets used by the group
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2018

18. Pensions and other post-retirement benefits (continued) -
The amounts recognised in the Group Income Statement and Group Statement of Comprehensnve Income for the

- +year are as follows:

-

Year 9nded 31 December 2018 ’ A United United .
Kingdom © States : Total
£000 £'000 £'000

Recognised in the Income Statement
‘Recognised in arriving at operating profit:

Scheme expenses borme by employers . . 475 70 545
Past service cost — GMP equalisation liability 1,970 - - 1,970
Total recognised in operating profit ~ 2,445 700 . 2,515 - -
Interest income on scheme assets 2,580 80 2,660
Interest cost on scheme liabilities - (2,785) (109) (2,894)
Other finance cost {205) {29) {234)
Taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income : '
Actual return on scheme assets - . (2,477) ' (94) (2,571) -
Less: interest income on scheme assets (2,580) (80) (2,660)
Less: investment management fees (198) -— (198)
(5,255) {174) : (5,429)

Other re-measurement gains and losses 7,126 - 210 . 7 336
Re-measurement gains and losses recognised in the . .
Statement of Comprehensive Income 1,871 - 36 1,907
Year ended 31 December 2017 ’ : United United

: ) Kingdom States . Total

£000 . £000 £000

Recognised in the Income Statement
Recognised in arriving at operating profit:

Scheme expenses bomne by employers 759 - 13 772
Interest income on scheme assets ) 2,514 83. 2,597
Interest cost on scheme liabilities (2,899) (117) (3,016)
Other finance cost . (385) . (34) (419)
Taken to the Statement of Comprehensnve Income . : . .
Actual return on scheme assets . 11,797 233" 12,030
Less: interest income on scheme assets (2,514) (83) (2,697)
Less: investment management fees (256) — - (256)
9,027 150 . 9,177
Other re-measurement gains and losses i (3,267) (245) {3,512)
Re-measurement gains and losses recognised in the .
Statement of Comprehensive Income 5,760 (85) - 5,665

The major assumptions used in determining the value of the defined benefit schemes are disclosed below.

. United Kingdom United States
December  December December December
2018 2017 2018 2017
Rate of increase in pensions in payment ) 2.22% 2.23% n/a n/a -
Rate of increase to deferred pensmns o 2.20% 2.20% n/a n/a
Inflation — CPI 2.20% '2.20% n/a n/a
Discount rate 2.90% . 2.50% 4.30% 3:70%
Post-retirement mortality (in years): -

- Member age 65 (current life expectancy) — male . 20.6 207 nl/a n/a
Member age 65 (current life expectancy) — female : 1225 . 226 ' nia ‘" nla
Member age 45 (life expectancy at 65) — male . - 219 22.1 n/a n/a
Member age 45 (life expectancy at 65) — female 24.0 241 n/a n/a

These assumptions have been selected after consultation with the group’s UK pension advusors KPMG LLP and the
group’s US actuaries, Prudential Retirement.

The rate of increase in pensions and the inflation rate assumptions in the UK are based on statistics published by the
Bank of England for long-term estirhates of the Retail Price Index (“RPI”). At 31 December 2018, the relevant inflation
rate based on the RPI for the duration of the UK Scheme was 3.20% (2017: 3.20%). The statutory basis of indexation
used by ‘the scheme is based on the Consumer Price Index (“CPI”). It is estimated that long-term CPI is
approximately 1.0% (2017: 1.0%) lower than the RPI. A 0.1% variation in the inflation rate would result in a change in
the present value of the scheme liabilities of approximately £0.9m (2017: £1.1m).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2018

18. Pensions andother post-retirement benefits (continued)

The discount rate for the UK scheme has been set by reference to the iBoxx AA corporate bond 15-year index. The
rate’ has been modified.to take account of the duration of the scheme, which is approximately 18 years (2017: 18

" years). A 0.1% variation in the discount rate would result in a change in the present value of the scheme liabilities of
approx1mately £1.6m (2017: £1.9m). .

In the UK, the mortality assumptions for the current year are based on nationally published tables using 120% of the
S2P*A YOB CM! 2017 model with 1.25% long-term trend rate and smoothing factor of 7.5 (2017: 120% of the S2P*A
YOB CMI 2016 model with 1.25% long-term trend rate and smoothing factor of 7.5). A 1 year variation in life
expectancy at age 65 would result in a change in the present value of the scheme liabilities of approximately £2.2m
(2017: £2.3m). In the US, mortality assumptions are in accordance with the RP-2014 Adjusted to 2006 Total Dataset *
Mortality wnth Scale MP-2018 (2017: RP-2014 Adjusted to 2006 Total Dataset Mortality with Scale MP-2017)

Scheme assets are stated at their market values at the respectlve statement of financial position dates.

Following closure of the UK scheme to future accrual, the group has agreed to make contributions up to 2023 in
order to make up the funding shortfall. The agreed contributions for the year ended 31 December 2019 are £700,000.
Following closure of the US scheme to future accrual, the group has agreed to make contributions for the year ended
31 December 2019 of $192,000. .

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations are as follows:

United United,

Kingdom States Total
. . . £'000 £000 £000
At 1 January 2017 . 111,463 3,220 114,683
Interest cost 2,899 - 117 - 3,016
Benefits paid ) ) (4,148) (238) (4,386)
Re-measurement gains from changes in fi nanmal assumptions 3,267 . 245 3,512
Foreign currency differences L — “(272) (272)
At 31 December 2017 : 113,481 3,072 116,553
Past service cost — GMP equallsatlon liability L 1,970 — 1,970
Interest cost : 2,785 + 109 2,894
Benefits paid (4,135) (316) (4,451)"
Re-measurement gains from changes in financial assumptions (7,126) (210) (7,336)
Foreign currency differences — 194 . 194
At 31 December 2018 ) 106,975 2,849 109,824
Changes in the fair value of the scheme assets are analysed as follows:
United United
Kingdom States Total
: : £'000 £000 £000
At 1 January 2017 : 196,578 2,309 98,887
Interest income 2,514 83 2,597
Return on scheme assets excludlng interest income 9,283 150 ' 9,433
Employer contributions ' ) 700 139 839
Benefits paid . . (4,148) (238) (4,386)
Foreign currency differences . : — (198) (198)
At 31 December 2017 : 104,927 2,245 107,172
Interest income . 2,580 80 2,660
Return on scheme’assets excluding interest income (5,057) - (174) (5,231)
Employer contributions . ’ 722 104 826
Administrative costs paid by the pension scheme S - 61) (61)
Benefits paid : (4,135) (316) (4,451)
Foreign currency differences — . 140 140

At 31 December 2018 99,037 2,018 101,055
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

19. Called-up share capital

Authorised, allotted, called-up and fully paid

31 December 31 December - 31 December 31 December

2018 2017 . 2018 2017

thousands thousands £000 £000

QOrdinary shares of 1p 76,749 76,749 767 767

During the current year and previous year, no further shares were issued.

Capital management

The primary purpose of the group’s capital management is to ensure the maintenance of healthy capital ratios in
order to support day-to-day business-operations and the achievement of strategic objectives. The group manages its
capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the financial position
of the group. . .

20. Reserves

Otherreserves

Other reserves of £9, 415 000 (2017: £9,415,000) comprise- the capital redemption reserve of £8,846,000 (2017
£8,846,000) and a surplus of £569,000 (2017: £569,000) in the ESOP reserve. The capital redemption reserve arose
from the cancellation of 549,000 preference shares of £1 each (£549,000) in March 1999 and the cancellation of
34,570,000 deferred shares of 24p (£8,297,000) in the year ended 31 March 2003. The ESOP reserve related to
shares held by the API Group plc No 2 Employee Benefit Trust (the “Trust”), established in 1997 to facilitate the
operation of the company’s executive share schemes. The remaining shares held by the Trust were sold as a result
of the acquisition of the company by Steel Partners Holdmgs L.P.. At 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, the
Trust had no assets.

Forelgn exchange reserve
The foreign exchange reserve of £1,488,000 surplus (2017: £1,966,000 surplus) is used to record exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries.

21. Financial instruments

The group’s policy is to ensure that banking facilities are adequate to meet the foreseeable peak requirements arising
from variations in working capital and the timing of capital expenditure. Facilities are in place to independently finance
the two main operations based in the UK and North America. The group's debt is structured to ensure that, where
possible, it is held in the same territory where the operations being fihanced are situated. For substantial
transactional exposures, it is group policy to hedge through the use of foreign exchange forward contracts.

Liquidity profile ’
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the group's financial liabilities based on contractual
undiscounted payments .

At 31 December 2018 . Within One to two Two to five After five

one year, years years - years Total
. - ) £'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £000
Non-derivative financial i
liabilities 838 - 28,326 _ 29,164
Interest on financial liabilities ‘ 1,416 - 1,416 2,715 - 5,547
Trade and other payables ' © 32,402 — —_ —_— 32,402
Forward foreign exchange .
contracts: i .
Payable 18,433 —_ - _ - 18,433
Receivable (18,310) . — — — {18,310)
At 31 December 2017 Within One to two Two to five After five
one year years years years © Total
£000 £'000 £'000 -£'000 £'000
Non-derivative financial i ’ .
liabilities X 1,223 — 16,250 — 17,473
Interest on financial liabilities : 569 569 1,644 — : 2,782
Trade and other payables 36,676 . - — — — 36,676
- Forward foreign exchange - : :
contracts: ) . -
Payable : 30,529 — - — 30,529
Receivable (30,514) — — — (30,514)

Liquidity risk is considered as part of the annual budget and monthly forecasting. The effect on liquidity of potential
movements in interest and currency rates is also considered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS '
For the year ended 31 December 2018

.21. Financial instruments (continued)

‘Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities are determined to be equivalent to their book values. The group uses
a fair value hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair values of financial instruments by valuation technique, in
accordance with IFRS 13. All of the financial instruments held by the group are included in the level 2 hierarchy. Fair
values are determined using observable market prices (level 2 as defined by IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement) with .
the fair value of forward exchange contracts being estimated by discounting the difference between the contractual
forward price and the current forward price for the residual maturity of the contract using a risk-free interest rate.

Credit risk .
The group’s credit risk relates to trade receivables and cash at bank. Details are disclosed in notes 13 and 15.

Equity price risk
Equity price risks are not applicable to the group as it does not currently have any tradable investments.

Interest rate risk ’
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in mterest rates, with all other. -
variables held constant, of the group’s profit before tax. The lmpact on the group’s equity is not significant.

Effect on profit

* Increase in before tax

. interest rate £'000

31 December 2018 +1% (422)
31 December 2017 +1% (279)

Foreign currency risk
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the sterling against the US dollar
and euro exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, of the group’s prof' it before tax and equity due to
forelgn exchange conversion of monetary assets and liabilities..

Effect
on profit Effect on
before tax equity
. : £'000 £'000
31 December 2018

10% weakening of sterling versus US dollar ) . 61 29
10% strengthening of sterling versus US dollar (61) (29)
10% weakening of sterling versus Euro : (571) {1,412)
10% strengthening of sterling versus Euro 571 1,412

31 December 2017 : : .
10% weakening of sterling versus US dollar (20) (420)
10% strengthening of sterling versus US dollar ’ 16 344
10% weakening of sterling versus Euro (729) . 1,261
10% strengthening of sterling versus Euro : 597 (1,031)

The impact' of translating the net assets of foreign operations into sterling is excluded from the above analysis.

Fair value foreign currency forward contracts

The group has taken out foreign currency forward contracts for the value of trade debtors, net of trade creditors,
denominated in euros. Any profit or loss arising on these contracts is posted directly to the income statement. At 31
December 2018, there were forward contracts in respect of fair value -hedges to buy sterling and sell euros to the
value of €9.8m (2017: €10.0m). These contracts have maturity dates extending to June 2019 (2017: May 2018).
Contracts with a positive fair value amounted to £14,000 and contracts with a negative fair value amounted to
£62,000 at 31 December 2018 (2017: positive fair value of £44,000 and negative fair value of £36,000). Losses on
fair value hedges amounting to £27,000 (2017: loss of £253,000) are included in the amounts disclosed for net
foreign currency differences in note 3. These foreign currency forward contracts are measured at fair value through
profit and loss account (! FVTPLY).

Hedges )

Cash flow hedges ~ forward foreign exchange contracts

The group has taken out foreign currency forward contracts to hedge a proportion of the value of future forecast sales
in 2019 denominated in euros to the value of €10.3m (2017: €20.2m) and future forecast purchases in 2019
denominated in US dollars to the .value of $0.5m (2017: $4.9m). These contracts have maturity dates extending to
December 2019 (2017: December 2018). At 31 December 2018, contracts with a positive value amounted to £40,000
(2017: £80,000) maturing within one year. Contracts with a negative value amounted to £115,000 (2017: £104,000)
maturing within one year. These hedges are fully effective and, consequently, the full amounts of the changes in fair
value have been shown in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. The loss recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of foreign exchange contracts is £52,000 (2017: gain of £692,000). A gain of £190,000 (2017: loss’
of £1,013,000) was recycled from other comprehensive income to revenue in the income statement. These foreign
currency forward contracts are measured at fair value through other.comprehensive income (‘FVTOCI').



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2018

" 22, Capital commitments

Amounts contracted but not provided in these financial statements are as follows:

31 December 31 December

2018 2017

_£'000 £'000

Property, plant and equipment 439. 758

23. Obligations undér leases and hire purchase contracts

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

~ 31 December 31 December

2018 . 2017

. __£'000 - £000

~ Not later than one year . 897 1,347
After one year but not more than five years : ‘ 1,631 i 957
After more than five years ) 5,750 5,865

. - 8,278 - 8,169

Included in the above commitments, there is a long lease property which expires in 2673 for which the present
annual payment is £115,000 (2_017: £115,000).

24. Related party transactions
Compensation of key management personnel

The key management personnel comprise the General Management Team of the company. .
" Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December
2018 - 2017

i . £000 £'000 ,
Short-term employee benefits 1,120 1,454
Post-employment benefits ) .41 41

1,161 1,495

Transact:ons with APIO
Transactions during the year with APIO, a |omt operation, are purchases of £1,000 (2017: £14 000) and research
and development charges of £171,000 (2017: £79,000). The amount owed to APIO was £178,000 (2017: £98,000).

Relationships between the parent and its subsidiaries

The relationships between the parent and its- subsndlanes are disclosed in note 2 to the: parent .company’

financial statements

Transactlons with Steel Partners Holdings L.P.

Transactions between API Group plc and its subsidiaries and other members of the Steel Partners Holdings LP.
group are not disclosed given the production of publically available consolidated financial statements which includes
API Group plc. Copies of the group accounts of Steel Partners Holdings L.P. may be obtained from The Corporation
Trust Company, 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, DE 19801. .

"For details of the ultimate parent undertaking and controlling company see note 12 of the company financial
statements. .
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COMPANY BALANCE SHEET
as at 31 December 2018

31 December 31 December

2018 2017
Note : £000 £'000
Assets
Non-current assets
Investments 2 6,314 7,485
Trade and other receivables 3 101 4,806
Deferved tax assets 6 1,349 1,454 .
: . 7,764 13,745
Current assets

Trade and other receivables . - 3 2,111 8,544

Cash and cash equivalents ) 11,414 14,224

. 13,525 22,768

Total assets . ’ ) 21,289 R 36,513

Liabililes o ’ ’ ’

Current liabilitles : .

Trade and other payables : . 4 6,734 4.822
T i . ) 6,734 4,822 .

Non-current llabilities -

Other financial liabilittes 7 - —_

Deficit on defined benefit pension scheme . 5 . 7.938 8,554
- ; - B 7.938 8,554

Total liabilities . . . ' ] 14,672 ~ 13,378
Net assets i i 6,617 ] 23,137
Equity ' . v - :

"Called-up share capital 8 767 767
Share premium 7,136 7.136
Other reserves 9 9,415 ' 9,415
Retained {loss) / profit ) ) {10,701) 5.819

__Equity shareholders’ funds B ) o . 6,617 23,137

A loss of £18,035,000 for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: profit of £3,698,000) has been {ransferred to
reserves. As permitted by Seclion 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the company has not presented ils own profit and
loss account.

The financial statements have been approved by the board of directors.
Signed on behalf of the board

s Kiriakopoulos

Kostantin
Director

31132014
_Company number: 00169249

The notes on pages 39 to 45 form part of these financial statements.
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

.for the year ended 31 December 2018

Called-up Retained
share Share Other (loss)/  Shareholders’
_capital premium reserves profit equity
£'000 £'000 £000 £000 £000
At 31 December 2016 767 7,136 9,415 383 17,701
Profit for the year — — — 3,698 3,698
Re-measurement gains on defined benefit
pension scheme (note 5) - — — 5,760 5,760
Tax on items relating to components of other )
comprehensive income (note 6) - — — (1,022) (1,022)-
Waiver on loan from subsidiary undertaking — — — (3,000) (3,000) -
Total comprehensive income for the year — — — 5,436 5,436
At 31 December 2017 767 7,136 9,415 5,819 23,137
Loss for the year — —_ (18,035) - (18,035)
Re-measurement gains on defined benefit ’
pension scheme (note 5) — — — 1,871 1,871
Tax on items relating to components of other ’ :
comprehensive income (note 6) : — — — (356) (356)
Total comprehensive loss for the year — — — (16,520) {16,520)
At 31 December 2018 767 7,136 9,415 (10,701) 6,617
For the years ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, there was no interim or final dividend.
-

The notes on pages 39 to 45 form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

1. Accounting policies

Accounting convention

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 100 'Appllcatlon of
Financial Reporting Requirements’, Financial Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’ and with the
Companies Act 2006. The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

The combany has taken advantage of the exemption provided under Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 not to
publish its individual profit and loss account and related notes.

The principal accounting policies which follow set out those policies which apply in preparing the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2018. These policies have been consistently applied to all periods presented unless
otherwise stated. )

Disclosure exemptions adopted . :
" In preparing the financial statements, the company has taken advantage of all disclosure exemptions conferred by
FRS 101. Therefore the financial statements do not include: -

Certain disclosures-regarding the company’s capital;

A statement of cash flows; '

The effect of future accounting standards not yet adopted; and

Disclosure of related party transactions with other wholly owned members of the group headed by API
Group plc.

e o o o

In addition, and in accordance with FRS 101 further disclosure exemptions in respect of financial instruments and
impairment of assets have been adopted because equivalent disclosures are included'in the consolidated financial
statements of API Group plc.

Significant judgements and estimates

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the amounts reported for assets and liabilities as at the balance sheet date and the amounts reported for
revenues and expenses during the year. However, the nature of estimation means that actual outcomes could differ
from those .estimates. Details regarding judgements which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements are as follows:

o Deferred tax assets .
Management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised,
based on the likely timing and level of future taxable profits. Further details are given in note 6. '

e Pensions and other post-retirement benefits
The cost and valuation of defined benefit pension plans is determined using actuarial valuatlons This
involves making assumptions about discount rates, future applicable salary and pension increases and
mortality rates. Due to the long-term nature of these plans such estlmates are subject to significant
uncertainty. Further details are given in note 5. .

e Impaiment of lnvestments
The group assesses whether there are any indicators of lmpalrment for investments. Investments are
tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying values may not be recoverable. When
value-in-use calculations are undertaken, management estimate expected cash flows from the investment
and choose a suitable discount rate to calculate the net present value of those cash flows. Further details .
regarding impairment of investments assets are given in note 2.

Investments in and loans due from subsidiaries
Investments in and loans due from subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment which is charged to the proﬁt
and loss account.

Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.
All translation differences are taken to the income statement.
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

1. Accounting policies (continued)

Taxation
Current tax assets and IIabllltleS are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates and laws that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

‘Deferred income tax is recognised on all temporary differences ansmg between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the financial statements, with the followmg exceptions:

e where the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combmatlon that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss;

e inrespect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsndlanes where the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

o deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will, be
available against which the deductlble temporary differences, carrled forward tax credits or tax losses can
be utilised. .

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities. are measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected
to apply when the related asset is realised or liability is settled, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively -
enacted at the balance sheet date, The carrying value of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date.

Income tax is charged or credited directly to equity if it relates to items that are credited or charged to equity.
‘Otherwise income tax is recognised in the income statement or other comprehensivejncome.

Pensions V ' ’ :
The cost of provndlng benefits under the defined benefit pensnon plan is determined using the pro;ected unit credlt
method.

Re-measurements are recognised immediately in the statement of financial position with a corresponding debit or
credit to retained eamings through Other Comprehensive Income in the period in which they occur. Re-
measurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods. -

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss account on the earlier of:

o the date of the plan amendment or curtailment; and
e the date that the Company recognises restructurlng related costs.

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset. The dlfference
- between the return on plan assets and the interest income on plan assets recognised in the income statement as
. other finance revenue or cost is recognised in Other Comprehensive Income.

" Financial instruments - interest-bearing loans and borrowmgs
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair value of the con5|derat|on received net of issue costs
associated with the borrowing. After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowmgs are subsequently
measured at amortlsed cost under the effectlve interest rate method.
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2018

2. Investments

Subsidiary undertakings
£000
Cost ’
At 31 December 2017 7,485
{nvestment in API Netherlands 2,633
At 31 December 2018 10,118
Impairment ) )
At 31 December 2017 —
Impairment provision 3,804
- At 31 December 2018 * 3,804
Net book value at 31 December 2018 6,314
Net book value at 31 December 2017 7,485

In the year ended 31 December 2018 there was injection of capital into API Netherlands B.V. of €3,000,000. An impairment
provision of £3,804,000 was made of which £3,504,000 related to the cost of the investment in API Netherlands B.V. using a

discount rate of 11%.

Details of the investments of the cofnpany are as follows:

Narhe of company

Registered address

Holding

API Laminates Limited *

API Foils Holdings Limited *
API Foils Limited *

API Holographics Limited *

API Overseas Holdings Limited *
API Group Services Limited *
API-Stace Limited 2

API (USA) Holdings Limited *
AP| Americas, Inc. ™ *

AP Foils SAS ™ )
API Foils Deutsch!and GmbH ™
AP! Foils [talia srl ™

API Foils (Asia) Limi.ted‘

API Folie Polska Sp. z 0.0.*

API Optix s.r.0. ™3
API Netherlands B.V. *

Second Avenue, Poynton Industrial Estate, Poynton,
Cheshire, SK12 1ND, UK

Second Avenue, Poynton industrial Estate, Poynton,
Cheshire, SK12 1ND, UK

Second Avenue, Poynton Industrial Estate, Poynton,
Cheshire, SK12 1ND, UK

Second Avenue, Poynton Industrial Estate, Poynton
Cheshire, SK12 1ND, UK

Second Avenue, Poynton Industrial Estate, Poynton,
Cheshire, SK12 1ND, UK

Second Avenue, Poynton Industrial Estate, Poynton,
Cheshire, SK12 1ND, UK

Second Avenue, Poynton Industrial Estate, Poynton,
Cheshire, SK12 1ND, UK

3841 vGreenway Circle, Lawrence, KS 66046,~USA

3841 Greenway Circle, Lawrence, KS 66046, USA'

14 Boulevard Arago, 91320 Wissous, France
Ziegelstrafie 22, 91126 Rednitzhembach, Germany

Loc. Squarzolo, Strada Salcudo San Salvatore Monferrato
(Allesandria), Italy

Room 1705, Tower 2 Ever Gain Plaza, 88 Container Por1
Road, Kwai Chung, Hong Kong

Al. Wojska Polskiego 11, 01-524 Warsaw, Poland

Hlavni 130, 250 68 Husinec-Rez, Czech Republic
Tufsteen 7, 2132 NT Hoofddorp, Netherlands

Ordinary srlares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary éhares

Ordinary shares

‘Ordinary shares

Common and

- preferred stocks

Common and
preferred stocks
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares
Qrdinary shares

* Held by subsidiary undertaking
+ Operating company

# Intermediate holding company
1 Group management company
2 Property holding company

3 Company controls 50% of the voting rights and share capital

4 Previously API Foils Inc.

With the exception of API Optix s.r.0., the company controls 100% of the voting rights and share capital of all the companies

listed above.

AII the operating subsidiary undertakings are involved in the principallactivities of the group.
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
for the year ended 31 December 2018

3. Trade and other receivables :
31 December 31 December -

2018 2017
: £'000 £'000
Amounts falling due within less than one year . : ’
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings ' 1,781 - 8,155
Group relief receivable . 299 353
Other debtors 31 36
2,11 8,544
Amounts falling due after more than one year .
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings 101 4,806
Total trade and other receivables 2,212 . 13,350

" Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings within less than one year are stated after an impairment provision of
£6,994,000 (2017: £nil). Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings after more than one year are stated after an
impairment provision of £5,326,000 (2017: £600,000). Interest is charged on amounts -due from subsidiary
undertakings falling due after more than one year. .

The dlrectors consider that the carrymg value of trade and other receivables is approximately equal to their fair value.

4. Trade and other payables :
31 December 31 December

2018 ' 2017

. £000 - £'000

Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings 2,237 372
Amounts due to parent undertaking . 4,491 . 4,438
Accruals 6 12
: - 6,734 4,822

On 14 November 2017, Steel Partners Holdings L.P., through certain consolidated subsidiaries (collectively,
‘Borrowers’) entered into a new five-year $600 million revolving credit facility (‘Credit Agreement’) with PNC Bank NA
('PNC’). Cedar 2015 Limited, the parent undertaking of API Group plc, is a Borrower under that Credit Agreement. At
31 December 2018, Cedar 2015 Limited had borrowed £4,491,000 (2017: £4,438,000) under the Credit Agreement
and provided those funds to APl Group plc. The interest rate of the amount borrowed from Cedar 2015 Limited at 31
December 2018 Limited of £4,491,000 was 2.5%. :

The directors consider that the carrying value of trade and other payables is approximately equal to their fair value.
5. Pensions and other post-retirement benefits

A defined benefit pension scheme, the API Group Pension and Life Assurance Scheme, was closed to future accrual
in December 2008. This was a funded pension scheme for the.company and its UK subsidiaries providing benefits
based on final pensionable earnings, funded by the payment of contributions to a separately administered trust fund.
Dué to the nature of the liabilities, the pension scheme is exposed to inflation, interest rate.risk and changes in life
expectancy of members. As the plan assets include significant investments in equmes the pension scheme |s also
exposed to equity market risk.

The Trustees of the API Group Pension and Life Assurance Scheme are responsnble for the management of the
pension scheme and utilise several third party advnsors to assist them

The assets and liabilities of the defined benefit scheme are:

31 December 31 December

2018 2017

- £000 £000
Equities 30,616 . 50,492
Bonds . 10,732 10,876
Liability driven investments : " 30,480 23,128
Property . . . 10,615 9,824
Private markets 10,683 . ' 10,273
Cash : ) 5,911 _334
Fair value of scheme assets . ’ 99,037 104,927
Present value of scheme liabilities (106,975) (113,481)
Net pension liability before deferred tax - (7,938) . - (8,554)

Equities have a quoted price in an active market (Level 1 hierarchy).- The fair value of bonds, liability driven
investments, hedge funds and property are determined using observable market prices (Level 2 hierarchy). The
private markets assets are Level 3 hierarchy. The funds have not invested in any of the group’s own financial
instruments nor in properties or other assets used by the group.

an



NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS o

For the year ended 31 December 2018

5. Pensions and other post-retirement benefits (continued)

The amounts recognised in the Income Statement and Statement of Comprehensnve Income are as follows:

N 31 December 31 December
2018 2017
: £'000 £°000
Recognised in the Income Statement
Recognised in amiving at operating profit :
Scheme expenses bome by employer 475 759
Past service cost — GMP equalisation liability 1,970" —
Total recognised in operating profit 2,445 759
Interest income on scheme assets 2,580 T 2,514
Interest cost on scheme liabilities (2,785) (2,899)
Qther finance cost {205) (385)
Taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income
Actual return on scheme assets (2,477) 11,797
Less: interest income on scheme assets (2,580) (2,514)
Less: investment management fees {198) (256)
i (5,255) . 9,027
Other re-measurement gains and losses 7,126 (3,267)
Re-measurement gains and losses recognised in the Statement of : :
Comprehensive Income 1,871 5,760 -
Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations are as follows: .
: 31 December 31 December
2018 2017
- £000 £000
Opening defined benefit obligations 113,481 111,463
Past service costs — GMP equalisation liability 1,970 —
Interest cost . 2,785 2,899
.Re-measurement (gains) / losses from changes in financial assumptions (7,126) 3,267
Benefits paid . (4,135) (4,148)
Closing defined benefit obligations 106,975 113,481
Changes-in the fair value of the scheme assets are analysed as follows:
. ' 31 December 31 December
2018 2017
. : £000 £000°
Opening fair value of scheme assets 104,927 96,578
Interest income . 2,580 2,514
Return on scheme assets excluding interest income (5,057) 9,283
Employer contributions 722 700
Benefits paid (4,135) (4,148)
Closing fair value of scheme assets 99,037 104,927
The principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet dates are as follows:
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
Discount rate ¢ 2.90% 2.50%-
Inflation - CPI 2.20% 2.20%
Rate of increase in pensions in payment 2.22% 2.23% -
Rate of increase to deferred pensions 2.20% 2.20%
Post-retirement mortality (in years):
Member age 65 (current life expectancy) - male 20.6 20.7
Member age 65 (current life expectancy) - female 22,5 226
Member age 45 (life expectancy at 65) - male 21.9 221
Member age 45 (life expectancy at 65) - female 24.0 24.1

These assumptions have been selected after consultation with the company’s pension advisors, KPMG’LLP,F '

The rate of increase in pensions and the inflation rate assumptions are based on statistics published by the Bank of
England for long-term estimates of the Retail Price Index (“RPI”). At 31 December 2018, the relevant inflation rate

used by the scheme is based on the Consumer Price Index (“CPI”).

. based on the RPI for the duration of the UK Scheme was 3.20% (2017: 3.20%). The statutory basis of indexation
it is estimated that long-term CPI is

approximately 1.0% (2017: 1.0%) lower than the RPI. A 0.1% variation in the inflation rate would result in a:change in

the present value of the scheme liabilities of approximately £0.9m (2017: £1.1m).

The discount rate has been set by reference to the iBoxx AA comporate bond 15-year index. The rate has been
modified to take account of the duration of the scheme, which is approximately 18 years (2017: 18 years). A 0.1%
variation in the discount rate would result in a change in the present value of the scheme liabilities of approximately

£1.6m (2017: £1.9m). *



NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

5. Pensions and other post-retirement benefits {continued)

The mortality assumptions for the current year are based on nationally published tables using 120% of the S2P*A
YOB CMI 2017 model with 1.25% long-term trend rate and smoothing factor of 7.5 (2017: 120% of the S2P*A YOB
CMI 2016 model with 1.25% long-term trend rate and smoothing factor of 7.5). A 1 year variation in life expectancy at
age 65 would result in a change in the present value of the scheme liabilities of approximately £2.2m (2017: £2.3m).
Scheme assets are stated at their market values at the respective balance sheet dates.

Following closure of the scheme to future accrual, the company has agreed to make contnbutlons up to 2023 in order -
to make up the funding shortfall. The agreed contributions for the year ended 31 December 2019 are £700,000.

6. Deferred taxation

.

The deferred tax included in the balanqe sheet is analysed as follows:

.31 December 31 December
2018 2017
£°000 £'000°
Deferred tax asset .
Defined benefit pension plans : . . 1,349 1,454
1,349 1,454
The movement in deferred taxation in the year comprises:
’ . 31 December 31 December
2018 2017
£000 £000
At the start of the year : o 1,454 . 2,530
Income statement credit / (charge) 251 (54) .
Statement of changes in equity charge . ) (356) {1,022)
At the end of the year : 1,349 1,454

Reductions in the UK corporation tax rate from 19% to 17% (17% effective from 1 April 2020) have been

" substantively enacted. This will impact the company'’s future current tax charge accordingly. The deferred tax assets
and liabilities at 31 December 2018 have been calculated based at the rates of tax substantively enacted at the -
balance sheet date.

There is no unrecognised deferred tax.

7. Other financial liabilities

31 December 31 December
2018 2017
£°000 £'000

Non-current instalments due on bank loans ) C ) — —

On 14 'November 2017, Steel Partners Holdings L.P., through certain consolidated subsidiaries (collectively,
. ‘Borrowers’) entered into a new five-year $600 million revolving credit facility (‘Credit Agreement’) with PNC Bank NA

(‘PNC’). Cedar 2015 Limited, the parent undertaking of APl Group plc, is a Borrower under that finance facility. No
security has been granted by the company for the Credit Agreement.

A UK subsidiary undertaking has .a finance lease with HSBC Equipment Finance (UK) Limited of £0.0 million (31
December 2017: £0.5 million). The company is a guarantor to that finance lease.

8. Called-up share capital

. Authonsed aIIotted called-up and fully paid :
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2018 2017 2018 2017
thousands thousands £000 £'000

Ordinary shares of 1p 76,749 - 76,749 - . 767 767
During the current year and previoUs year, no further shares were issued.
9. Other reserves

Other reserves of £9,415,000 (2017: £9,415,000) comprise the capltal redemption reserve £8,846,000 (2017:
£8,846,000) and a surplus of £569,000 (2017 £569,000) in the ESOP reserve.

The capital redemption reserve arose from the cancellation of 549 000 preference shares of £1 each (£549,000) in
March 1999 and the cancellation of 34,570,000 deferred shares of 24p (£8,297,000) in the year ended 31 March
2009.
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

10. Proft attributable to members of the parent company . ' N v

A loss of £18,035,000 for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: proﬁt of £3,698 000) has been transferred to
reserves. As permitted by Section 408 of the\Companres Act 2006 the company has not presented its own profit and
loss account.

The company has no employees. Staff costs are £nil except for drreclors remuneration as disclosed in note 4 of the
group accounts,

Fees paid to the audrtor in respect of audit services provided to the company for the year amounted to £40 000
(2017: £30,000). In the year ended 31 December 2018 there was a change in auditor to Delome LLP..

11. Dividends

No interim or final drvrdend has been pard within the year ended 31':December 2018 (nrl in year ended 31 December
2017).

12. Ultimate parent undertaking and controlling company

The immediate parent undertaking is Cedar 2015 Limited, a company registered in England and Wales. The
registered address is Second Avenue, Poynton Industnal Estate Poynton, Cheshire, SK12 1ND. '

The ultimate parent undenakrng and controlling party is Steel Partners Holdings L.P., a company incorporated in the
USA. Copies of the group accounts of Steel Partners Holdings L P. may be obtamed from The Corporation Trust -
Company, 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, DE 19801.

Steel Partners Holdmgs L.P. is the largest and smallest parent company preparing group financial statements.



